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Vision 

To be the preferred marine support service provider 

in the oil and gas industry delivering incident-free 

operations all the time, everywhere. 

Mission 

To provide our customers with safe, superior 

quality, reliable and cost eff ective marine services 

delivered by a team, passionate about  operational 

excellence. 
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CHOff shore Ltd. (“CHO”, the “Company”), together with 

its subsidiaries (the “Group”), is a leading provider 

of off shore marine assets and services, focused on 

the oil and gas sector. 

The Group’s core business is in the ownership and charter 

of seven 12,240 BHP vessels equipped with state-of-the-art 

facilities for heavier off shore work in deeper waters and the 

provision of reliable, responsive and eff ective ship management 

services for our vessels as well as third party vessels. Over 

the last forty plus years, we have managed a wide range of 

off shore vessels including Anchor Handling Tugs, Platform 

Supply Vessels, Work Boats and Liftboats amongst others. 

Our vessels provide off shore support services such as off shore 

construction support, towing, anchor-handling, supply of deck, 

liquid and dry bulk cargoes and fi eld support services. The 

Group operates and charters vessels across the globe from 

Mexico, Africa, India to South-East Asia extending our support 

to oil and gas majors, oil fi eld contractors etc. 

Building on CHO’s long standing history of strength and expertise, 

the Group will continue to forge excellent relationships with 

its customers through fi rm commitment to quality, reliability 

and high service standards. 

North America

South America

Africa

Middle East

Asia

Oceania

Europe

CORPORATE 
PROFILE

LEGEND

1. Asia 
2. Middle East
3. Africa 
4. South America

4
AAA3 2

1
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CH OFFSHORE LTD. 

CHO Ship
Management

Pte. Ltd.

High
Majestic
Sdn Bhd

Delaware
Marine
Pte Ltd

Pearl
Marine

Pte. Ltd.

Garo
Pte. Ltd.

Off shore
Gold Shipping

Pte Ltd

Pembrooke
Marine
Pte Ltd

MarineCo
Limited

Gemini
Sprint

Sdn Bhd

PT Bahtera
Nusantara
Indonesia

Sea Glory
Private
Limited

Venture
Off shore
Pte. Ltd.

100% 49%

100% 70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 49%

49%

49%

CORPORATE 
STRUCTURE
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MARCH
Incorporated on 
31 March 1976 as 
Mico Line Pte. Ltd.

APRIL
Mico Line Pte. Ltd. 
became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of 
Chuan Hup Marine 
Pte. Ltd.

1976

FEBRUARY
Incorporation of 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary - Garo 
Pte. Ltd.

1979

JANUARY
Incorporation of 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary - 
Pembrooke Marine 
Pte Ltd

AUGUST
Incorporation of 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary - 
Off shore Gold 
Shipping Pte Ltd

1983

OCTOBER
Scomi Marine 
Berhad (Formerly 
Habib Corporation 
Berhad) acquired 
a 29.07% stake 
from Chuan Hup 
Holdings Limited.

2005

MARCH
Incorporation of 
wholly-owned 
subsidiary - CHO 
Ship Management 
Pte. Ltd.

JUNE 

Incorporation of 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary - Sea 
Glory Private Limited

1977

SEPTEMBER
Incorporation of 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary - 
Delaware Marine 
Pte Ltd

1982

FEBRUARY
Upgraded to 
SGX-ST Mainboard 
and underwent a 
name change to 
CH Off shore Ltd.

SEPTEMBER
S$37.2 million 
Placement of 
117,000,000 new 
shares in CHO

2003

KEY
MILESTONES
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JULY
Incorporation of a 
subsidiary - Venture 
Off shore Pte. Ltd.

2009

JULY
Baker Techology 
Limited’s wholly-
owned subsidiary 
- BT Investment 
Pte. Ltd. acquired a 
52.72% stake in CHO

SEPTEMBER

BT Investment Pte. 
Ltd. increased its 
stake in CHO to 
54.98%

DECEMBER

Awarded 
Certifi cation of 
Partifi cation in 
the Singapore 
Environmental 
Achievement 
Awards 2018 

Awarded Eco-
Offi  ce Certifi cation 
by Singapore 
Environment 
Council for its 
premises at 12A 
Jalan Samulun

2018

FEBRUARY
FEG, through 
Energian, acquired 
a 86.71% stake in 
CHO via a voluntary 
unconditional 
cash off er

CHO became an 
indirect subsidiary 
of FEG 

2015

APRIL
Scomi Marine 
Berhad disposed 
of its 29.07% stake 
to Energian Pte 
Ltd (“Energian”) – 
a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Falcon 
Energy Group 
Limited (“FEG”)

2008

AUGUST
Awarded 
Meritorious Defence 
Partner Award, 
in recognition of 
commendable 
contribution 
towards National 
Defence

2013

MARCH - APRIL
Energian sold a 21.83% 
stake to SZ Off shore 
Investment Pte. Ltd.

High Majestic Sdn Bhd. 
became an indirect 
subsidiary of CHO

 

Pearl Marine Pte Ltd 
became an indirect 
subsidiary of CHO

2017

05Annual Report 2020



* co-owned
Note: The above specifi cations are for general information only, and are not to be used for any other purpose.

OUR
FLEET 

PERIDOT
2010

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
152.2 MT continuous 
158.8 MT maximum 

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2 

LANGERY
(EX-PEARL)
2008

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
151.8 MT continuous 
155.1 MT maximum

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2

AQUAMARINE
(EX-PTSC HA LONG)
2009

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
152.0 MT continuous 
157.7 MT maximum 

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2

CORAL*
2008

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
157.2 MT continuous 
162.0 MT maximum

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2
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Note: The above specifi cations are for general information only, and are not to be used for any other purpose.

TURQUOISE
2008

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
153.9 MT continuous 
157.7 MT maximum 

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2 

AMETHYST
2008

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
153.6 MT continuous
159.2 MT maximum 

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2

TOURMALINE
2006

Dimensions (L x B x D)
61.45 m x 16.4 m x 7.2 m

Main Propulsion 2 x Wartsila,
Total 12,240 BHP

Bollard Pull 
150.6 MT continuous 
154.8 MT maximum

Dynamic Positioning 
System Class 2
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FINANCIAL 
REVIEW
Statement of Profi t or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FYDec20

US$'000

FYDec19

US$'000

Changes

%
Explanatory Notes

Revenue    18,918       20,956 -9.7%
Decrease due to lower utilisation 
rate and higher bunker and crew 
costs

Cost of sales   (14,345)      (13,488) 6.4%

Gross profi t before direct depreciation      4,573         7,468 -38.8%

Direct depreciation     (6,265)        (7,151) -12.4%

Gross (loss)/profi t after direct 

  depreciation

    (1,692)           317 NM

Other income  430  343 25.4% Increase mainly due to receipt 
of various governmental relief 
for Covid-19 but off set by lower 
interest income 

Impairment loss on vessels    (8,500) -  NM Decrease in the recoverable 
amount of vessels due to the 
continued weakness in the oil 
and gas industry

Loss on disposal of vessels (1,884) (310) NM Losses from disposal of 2 vessels

Allowance for expected credit losses 
  on trade receivables

(1,945) (1,355) 43.5% Additional provision for expected 
credit losses

Allowance for expected credit losses 
  on loan to associated company

(1,165) -  NM Increase due mainly to 
uncertainty in collection

Other expenses (622) (178) NM Increase due to higer exchange 
losses

Administrative expenses (4,000) (8,593) -53.5% Decrease due to lower provision 
for brokers’ commission following 
fi nal settlement for the three 
shipbrokers arbitration case 

Loss from operations   (19,378) (9,776) 98.2%

Finance costs (400) (469) -14.7%

Loss before income tax and results 

  of associated companies

  (19,778)  (10,245) 93.1%

Share of results of associated companies -  (3,651) -100.0% No further share of losses from 
associate due to capping of the 
loss in FY2019 

Loss before income tax   (19,778)     (13,896) 42.3%

Income tax       351        (166) NM Mainly due to reversal of 
deferred taxation from impairment 
of vessels

Loss after income tax   (19,427)  (14,062) 38.2%

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company   (19,314) (14,166) 36.3%

Non-controlling interests  (113) 104 NM

Total comprehensive income 

  for the period

  (19,427) (14,062) 38.2%

NM denotes Not Meaningful
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Statement of Cash Flows

FYDec20

US$'000

FYDec19

US$'000

Changes

%
Explanatory Notes

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (4,158)   430 NM Reduction mainly due to 
settlement of three shipbrokers 
arbitration case 

Cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (2,568)      2,746 NM Proceeds from sale of vessels of 
$1.6 million off set by vessel dry 
docking cost of $3.8 million

Cash generated from/(used in) fi nancing activities  1,685   (553) NM Proceeds from new bank loan 
of $2.5 million less repayment of 
bank loans

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,041)      2,623 NM

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,323 5,700 46.0%

Eff ect of exchange rate changes on cash and 
  cash equivalents

    (92)  -  NM

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  3,190 8,323 -61.7%

Statement of Financial Position
2020

US$'000

2019

US$'000

Changes

%
Explanatory Notes

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,190 8,323 -61.7% Reduction mainly due to fi nal settlement of three 
shipbrokers arbitration case, vessels’ dry-docking costs 
but partially off set from proceeds from sale of vessels 
and proceeds from bank loan 

Trade and other receivables 7,020 8,756 -19.8% Decrease due to allowance for expected credit losses

Inventories 232 353 -34.3%

Loan to associated company 4,372 5,537 -21.0% Decrease due to allowance for expected credit losses

Prepayments 152 178 -14.6%

Assets held for sale 1,322  -  NM Refers to the 2 vessels that were subsequently sold in 
February 2021

Total current assets 16,288 23,147 -29.6%

Non-current assets

Associated companies   -    -  -

Fixed assets  60,848  76,272 -20.2% Decrease due to impairment loss on vessels

Total non-current assets 60,848 76,272 -20.2%

Total assets 77,136 99,419 -22.4%

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,895  10,216 -42.3% Reduction mainly due to settlement of three shipbrokers 
arbitration case 

Borrowings  6,929 6,468 7.1% Increase due to proceeds from bank loan

Income tax payable  452   129 NM

Total current liabilities  13,276 16,813 -21.0%

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings  3,701 2,263 63.5% Increase due to proceeds from bank loan

Deferred taxation  3,340  4,097 -18.5% Mainly due to reversal of deferred taxation from 
impairment of vessels

Total non-current liabilities  7,041  6,360 10.7%

Capital and reserves

Issued capital  55,379 55,379 -

Treasury shares   (46) (46) -

Accumulated profi ts  1,481  20,795 -92.9% Decrease due to net loss for the year

 56,814 76,128 -25.4%

Non-controlling interests  5  118 -95.8%

Total equity  56,819 76,246 -25.5%

Total liabilities and equity 77,136  99,419 -22.4%

NM denotes Not Meaningful
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FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL STATISTICS

FYDec20

US$'000

FYDec19

US$'000

6MDec18

US$'000

FYJun18

US$'000

FYJun17

US$'000

FYJun16

US$'000

Statements of Profi t Or Loss And Other Comprehensive Income

Revenue 18,918 20,956 5,937 9,906 16,405 24,725

Gross Profi t/(Loss) 
  after direct depreciation

(1,692) 317 (1,836) (2,561) 4,040 10,998

Profi t/(Loss) 
  before income tax

(19,778) (13,896) (6,229) (24,473) (40,836) 10,215

Profi t/(Loss) after income tax (19,427) (14,062) (6,346) (24,595) (40,080) 5,626

Gross Profi t/(Loss) margin (8.9%) 1.5% (30.9%) (25.9%) 24.6% 44.5%

Profi t/(Loss) 
  before income tax margin

(104.5%) (66.3%) (104.9%) (247.1%) (248.9%) 41.3%

Profi t/(Loss) 
  after income tax margin

(102.7%) (67.1%) (106.9%) (248.3%) (244.3%) 22.8%

Statements of Financial Position

Current assets 16,288 23,147 16,151 17,906 22,919 19,110

Non-current assets 60,848 76,272 91,382 98,802 118,200 168,838

Total assets 77,136 99,419 107,533 116,708 141,119 187,948

Current liabilities 13,276 16,813 10,178 12,619 9,436 13,568

Non-current liabilities 7,041 6,360 7,047 7,465 10,464 13,035

Total liabilities 20,317 23,173 17,225 20,084 19,900 26,603

Net current assets 3,012 6,334 5,973 5,287 13,483 5,542

Shareholders' equity 56,814 76,128 90,294 96,624 121,219 161,345

Per Share Data

Earnings Per Share 
  (US$ cents): 

Basic (2.74) (2.01) (0.90) (3.49) (5.69) 0.80 

Fully Diluted (2.74) (2.01) (0.90) (3.49) (5.69) 0.80 

Net Asset Value Per Share 
  (US$ cents)

8.06 10.80 12.81 13.71 17.20 22.88

Dividends Per Share 
  (SG$ cents)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.50

The Covid-19 pandemic has aff ected global economies including 

the oil and gas industry. With the reduction in exploration activity, 

our vessel utilisation rate has decreased. Countries have also 

implemented tighter border controls and quarantine measures 

to control the spread of Covid-19 resulting in increased crew 

costs due to higher costs of medical testing and quarantine. In 

addition, the negative impact from the pandemic has caused 

uncertainty in the collection of receivables from some of our 

clients and therefore we have provided for expected credit 

loss for these clients. The global situation due to the Covid-19 

pandemic remains uncertain and we will continue to practice 

prudent cash management to navigate through the challenging 

times ahead.
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NET ASSETS VALUE PER SHARE (US$ CENTS) AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to present 

the Annual Report of CH Off shore Ltd. (“CHO”, the “Company” 

and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the fi nancial 

year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”). 

2020 has tested the world beyond measure with the outbreak 

of the Covid-19 pandemic causing unprecedented disruption 

to worldwide economies, livelihoods and healthcare systems. 

Countries have implemented various forms of nationwide 

lockdowns, tighter border controls and quarantine measures to 

try to control the spread. However, as the pandemic intensifi ed, 

many businesses have had to suspend their operations and 

re-evaluate their business models. Fortunately, the series of 

budgets in Singapore in 2020 has provided signifi cant monetary 

support to companies and residents to tide them through this 

diffi  cult period. 

With the near complete halting of air travel, limited land travel 

and suspension of many business operations, global oil demand 

took a signifi cant hit in 2020. This sharp drop in oil demand 

and the search for storage capacity resulted in the price of US 

crude oil (WTI) turning negative for the fi rst time in history in 

circa April 2020 though this negative spike in oil prices was 

short-lived as oil prices bounced back quickly. In 2020, WTI 

Crude oil traded between -US$37.63/bbl to US$63.27/bbl ending 

the year at US$52.20/bbl while Brent Crude Oil traded between 

US$19.33/bbl to US$68.91/bbl ending the year at US$51.80/bbl. 

Exploration activity has also been reduced and markets that 

were picking up in late 2019 and early 2020 became lacklustre 

through the year.

Although we remain hopeful of the sector’s recovery in 2021 

given the rollout of vaccination programmes across various 

countries, with the slow pace and uneven distribution of 

vaccinations globally, the recovery process is likely to be slow 

and prolonged. A full return to pre-Covid times could still be 

a few years away.

Impact of Covid-19

During this challenging Covid-19 period, we prioritised the health 

and safety of all our employees as well as the implementation of 

our business continuity plans. We implemented Safe Management 

Measures in line with government regulations and enforced 

safe distancing measures at the workplace. On 7 April 2020, 

the Singapore Government announced the Circuit Breaker 

and although the Group was deemed to provide an essential 

service and therefore continued to operate on premise, many 

employees worked from home. Malaysian employees who were 

impacted by Malaysian’s Movement Control Order and unable 

to return to Singapore were also able to work from home. With 

the gradual safe opening of the diff erent phases in Singapore, 

the Company implemented team rotations to further safeguard 

the health and safety of our employees. Onboard our vessels, we 

ensured that our crew members had suffi  cient medical-grade 

personal protection equipment and observed safe distancing 

measures especially during mealtimes. However, with strict 

global border controls, the Company faced difficulties in 

organising regular crew changes due to fl ight cancellations and 

border closures. We continue to work closely with government 

regulators such as the Economic Development Board and 

Marine and Port Authority of Singapore to reduce the risk of 

exposing our crew members to onshore personnel and vice 

versa by undergoing rostered routine testing regularly. With the 

multitude of business suspensions and disruptions, both globally 

and locally, we have also taken countermeasures to broaden 

our suppliers and customer base to source for equipment and 

provisions within Singapore or locally where our vessels are 
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based. With fewer market enquiries and delayed award (and in 

some cases cancellation) of charters that were in the pipeline, 

our fi nancials have been impacted negatively. 

Financial review 

We continue to practice prudent cash management, which 

is critical to navigating through the challenging times ahead. 

Group revenue for FY2020 fell to US$18.9 million refl ecting a 

10% drop from FY2019. This was attributed to a decrease in 

utilisation rate from FY2019 to FY2020. With the signifi cant 

impact of Covid-19 on the global sector, aff ecting our charterers 

and therefore charter rates, the Group incurred a loss after 

tax of US$19.4 million in FY2020, 38% higher than the net loss 

of US$14.1 million for the corresponding period in 2019. The 

higher losses in FY2020 were mainly due to lower utilisation 

of vessels, higher impairment losses, losses from the disposal 

of vessels and provision of accounts receivables. 

The Group’s shareholders’ equity decreased from US$76.1 million 

as at 31 December 2019 to US$56.8 million as at 31 December 

2020 mainly due to the losses incurred in FY2020. As a result 

of the settlement of the brokers’ commission arbitration and 

vessels’ dry-docking costs though partially off set by the cash 

generated from the sale of vessels and proceeds from a bank 

loan, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents decreased from 

US$8.3 million as at 31 December 2019 to US$3.2 million as 

at 31 December 2020. 

Mitigating strategies and outlook

The outlook for global oil demand remains extremely challenging 

for the foreseeable future but we are hopeful of its recovery 

and we continue to play to our strengths as our core fl eet of 

Anchor Handling Tugs is uniquely positioned to withstand the 

ups and downturns in the industry. Our vessels have maintained 

an excellent reliability track record as they are well-built by 

renowned shipyards according to high quality specifi cations. 

Our core vessels are equipped with high quality equipment, large 

tank capacities and deck space and have optimal horse-power 

suitable to meet various clients’ requirements. Our management 

team together with our team of highly experienced employees 

have a proven track record when it comes to delivering and 

securing third-party ship management agreements. We stand 

resilient by playing to our strengths with hopes for a rebound 

in the near future as we intend to develop our business model 

and business strategies further in 2021. We look to our future 

with confi dence as we are prepared for what lies ahead. 

Sustainability

The events of 2020 have without a doubt, left a stark reminder 

that the world we live in is fragile and uncertain. To this, I am 

proud that the Board, together with our Risk Management 

Committee, continues to maintain oversight and provide 

guidance on CHO’s strategic sustainability direction and to 

ensure best business practices and Environmental, Social and 

Governance (“ESG”) matters are being addressed. 

As we strive to continually minimise negative social and 

environmental impacts of our operations, we remain guided 

by our core values of our sustainability strategy. Our PRIME 

core values (Passion, Respect, Integrity and Honesty, Monetary 

Discipline and Excellence) together with our “Do No Harm” 

corporate policies are in place to serve as a constant reminder 

to operate the CHO way. The CHO way ensures that we do 

no harm to ourselves, to those involved and are aff ected by 

our operations, to the assets involved and are aff ected by our 

operations; to the environment in which we work and to our 

relations with clients, subcontractors, customers, stakeholders 

and to those aff ected by our operations. 

To balance commercial viability with sustainability for future 

generations, we incorporate key ESG principals when setting 

out our business strategies and operations. Controlling our 

operating expenses is critical in this challenging and volatile 

off shore oil and gas market and by prioritising sustainability 

across our business operations, we are able to face challenges 

head-on and rise to the occasion. As a Group, we are in full 

compliance with the 1974 International Convention for the 

Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS 1974). 
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banking and fi nancial services including 
being Managing Director at Morgan 
Grenfell, Merrill Lynch International, 
Sun Hung Kai Securities and Lum Chang 
Securities. He was also an Executive 
Director and Partner of Kay Hian (now 
UOB Kay Hian Securities). Mr Thia was 
the Executive Chairman of two publicly 
listed companies and had served as an 
Independent Director and the Chairman 
of Audit Committees of several listed 
companies in Singapore, Malaysia and 
Indonesia.He was a consultant to the SGX 
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and an advisor to a private equity fund 
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Ms Jeanette Chang is a Non-Executive 
Non-Independent Director of CHO. 
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27 August 2018. Ms Chang was last re-
elected as Director on 21 September 2018. 
Ms Chang is also a member of Audit and 
Remuneration Committees.
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the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
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Director of Baker Tech, which is the 
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Chang has an engineering and fi nance 
background having previously worked with 
Mott MacDonald Group in London on UK 
and Singapore engineering projects and 
prior to joining Baker Tech, was a Director 
in the Equity Capital Markets team at 
Barclays Bank PLC where she worked for 
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to fund raising in the capital markets. 

Ms Chang holds a Master in Engineering 
First Class (Civil Engineering) degree from 
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August 2018. Mr Tan was last re-elected 
as Director on 18 June 2020. .

Mr Tan is the Chief Financial Offi  cer of 
Baker Tech, which is the ultimate holding 
company of CHO. Prior to joining Baker 
Tech, Mr Tan was a Senior Audit Manager 
with Ernst and Young, Singapore. 

Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Accountancy 
(Honours) degree from Nanyang Technological 
University, Singapore and is a member 
of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants. 
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Mr Tan Pong Tyea is a Non-Executive 
Non-Independent Director of CHO. He 
was initially appointed as Non-Executive 
Chairman on 1 June 2010 and subsequently 
re-designated to Executive Chairman on 
22 October 2015. Mr Tan was last re-
elected as Director on 28 March 2019. 
He relinquished his position as Executive 
Chairman on 8 August 2018 and remains 
as an Executive Director. On 1 September 
2018, Mr Tan was re-designated to Non-
Executive Non-Independent Director and 
subsequently ceased to be a Nominating 
Committee member on 8 October 2018. 

Mr Tan is also the Executive Chairman 
and CEO of Falcon Energy Group Limited 
(“FEG”), a controlling shareholder of CHO. 

FEG is a SGX Mainboard-listed leading 
player in the regional Off shore Marine 
and Oil and Gas sectors. It provides a 
full spectrum of support services for the 
Off shore Marine and Oil and Gas cycle, 
from initial exploration and drilling to 
production and post-production stage, 
with a specialist focus on the production 
phase of oilfi eld activities. 

He has more than 30 years of experience 
servicing the oil companies and major 
contractors throughout the region. 

Mr Tan obtained his Masters in Management 
Studies from Durham University, United 
Kingdom.

Mr Tan Pong Tyea
Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

15Annual Report 2020



Lim Tze Kern, Kenny

Managing Director 

CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd.

Mr Lim Tze Kern is the Managing Director 

of CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd.

(“CHOSM”), a wholly owned subsidiary 

of CHO.

He joined CHO Group as Director of 

Business Development in February 2017. 

Mr Lim was promoted to VP of Business 

Development and Commercial in February 

2019 and was appointed as General 

Manager of CHOSM on 16 September 

2020. He was subsequently promoted 

to Managing Director of CHOSM on 5 

February 2021.

Mr Lim has 15 years hands-on experience in 

the Marine Oil and Gas industry specialising 

in Off shore Support Vessels (OSVs) and 

floatels. He has extensive knowledge 

and contacts in the OSV industry and 

prior to joining CHO Group, he was the 

Regional General Manager at Asetanian 

Marine Pte Ltd, the off shore marine oil 

and gas division of Falcon Energy Group 

Limited. His key responsibilities include 

leading the team in spear-heading the 

overall Business Development, marketing 

eff orts and contractual negotiations in 

key markets across diff erent time zones 

in various continents.

He holds a Bachelor of Civil Engineering 

Degree (Hons) from the National University 

of Singapore.

Lee Mun Keat

Financial Controller

Mr Lee Mun Keat is the Financial Controller 

of CHO. Mr Lee is responsible for overall 

financial and accounting matters of 

the Group including related regulatory 

compliance matters with regulatory bodies.

Mr Lee has over 20 years of experience 

in the accounting and fi nance industry 

having spent time as an accountant 

during the early days of his career before 

moving into corporate advisory and 

fi nance. Mr Lee spent the last 5 years 

as a Senior Manager in the Corporate 

Finance team of MS Corporate Finance 

Pte. Ltd. and before that was a Manager 

with PrimePartners Corporate Finance 

and NRA Capital.

He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy 

Degree from Nanyang Technological 

University and is a member of the Institute 

of Singapore Chartered Accountants.
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SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT
ABOUT THE REPORT
This report describes our sustainability performance for the 

year from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 and has been 

prepared taking reference from the Singapore Exchange Ltd 

("SGX") Sustainability Reporting Guidelines (set out in Listing 

Rule 711A and 711B) and the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 

Standards for reporting on our material topics. The boundary 

of reporting for the material topics includes the vessels that we 

operate and covers our global operations. CH Off shore Ltd. 

(“CHO”) is adopting a phased approach for our Sustainability 

Report and we seek to provide additional disclosures on our 

material topics as our sustainability reporting matures over time. 

Forming part of the Company’s Annual Report for FY2020, the 

Sustainability Report can be found online on our Company's 

website (www.choff shore.com.sg). We welcome comments 

and feedback on our Sustainability Report at investors@

choff shore.com.sg. 

SUSTAINABILITY – THE CHO WAY
Sustainability considerations have always been a part of our 

organisational DNA. The Group recognises that risk management 

is just as much about opportunities as it is about threats. We 

are rooted in our core values of Passion, Respect, Integrity 

and Honesty, Monetary Discipline and Excellence (“PRIME”) 

and driven by our “Do No Harm” corporate philosophy. They 

guide us in how we do business, treat our people, respect the 

environment and deliver our solutions. 

With this philosophy and mind-set, CHO welcomed the SGX 

requirements on sustainability reporting and commenced its 

sustainability reporting journey in 2016. With the publication of 

our fi fth sustainability report, we are proud to have increased 

our eff orts and streamlined our strategy through hard work 

and commitment to the goal of being a responsible business. 

We continue to strive for greater integration of sustainability in 

every aspect of work that we do. Our sustainability practices 

are not just confi ned to our operations, but also extended to 

our supply chain. We recognise that the Group’s operations are 

highly dependent on having a reliable supply chain providing us 

with a range of products from equipment and general supplies 

to vessels. Therefore, we have implemented robust policies 

governing supplier selection. 

DO NO HARM

Do No Harm to ourselves 
as human beings

Do No Harm to those involved
and aff ected by our operations

Do No Harm to the assets involved
and aff ected by our operations

Do No Harm to the environment 
in which we work

Do No Harm to our relationships 
with clients, subcontractors,
customers, stakeholders and 

those aff ected by our operations
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SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Employment Types
as at 31 December 2020 

Gender Diversity of Our Employees
as at 31 December 2020

100%
Full Time Employees in our 
corporate offi  ce and for our crew

44%
Male

100%
Male

56%
Female

0%
Female

 
Corporate Offi  ce Crew

GHG Emissions Intensity 
of Our Operations

0.59
tCO

2
e/running hour in FY2020 

Lost Time Injury (“LTI”)

LTI Free Days 

256 

LTI Free Man-Hours

456,631
(period covering 10 April 20201 
until 31 December 2020)

Employees New Hire 
(Corporate Offi  ce)

Employees New Hire 
(Crew)^

17% 
of new hires below 

30 years old

15% 
of new hires below 

30 years old

66% 
of new hires between 

30 and 50 years

76% 
of new hires between 

30 and 50 years

17%
of new hires more 
than 50 years old

9%
of new hires more 
than 50 years old

^ New employee hire for crew refers to the unique individuals who have fi rst joined the Company in FY2020 as one employee may have several rotations (temporary 
contracts) with the Company. 

1 LTI incident occurred on 9 April 2020

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE 
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible for the governance 

of the Group’s risk management and internal controls. The Risk 

Management Committee (“RMC”) has been set up to assist the 

Board in this regard. The RMC, which comprises of the Chief 

Executive Offi  cer (“CEO”), Financial Controller (“FC”), Managing 

Director of CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd. and all departmental 

heads, performs biannual reviews of the risk register, including 

sustainability related risks, to identify new risks and review the 

severity and the applicability of the existing risks. 

The Board has implemented an Enterprise Risk Management 

Framework for the identifi cation, assessment, monitoring 

and reporting of signifi cant risks. As part of the assessment of 

each risk, risks are measured on the basis of the probability 

of a hazard leading to a consequence and the severity of the 

consequence. Preventive controls and mitigation controls are 

used to manage the respective components of risk as per the 

appropriate hierarchy of controls.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
We prioritise stakeholder engagement by focusing on and addressing key concerns of our stakeholders and delivering on our 

commitments so as to create sustainable value for the Company as well as stakeholders.

Stakeholders Method and Frequency of 

Engagement

Topics of Concern Our Response

Employees •   Regular “We Care” email to 

vessel crew 

• Regular “Safety Alerts and 

Marine Circulars” email to 

vessel crew

• Town halls

• Weekly or monthly staff  

meetings

• Trainings

• Vision, strategy and direction

• Productivity

• Collaboration

• Staff  welfare and benefi t

• Training and development

• Health, safety and 

environment

• We remain committed to 

attracting top talent and 

investing in the development of 

our people

• We adopt merit-based 

recruitment practices and 

emphasise diversity and 

inclusiveness

• We have given our Employers’ 

Pledge of Fair Employment 

Practices to TAFEP

Shareholders 

and Financiers

• Annual Report

• Annual General Meeting 

(“AGM”)

• SGX Announcements

 

• Business strategy and 

direction

• Financial performance

• Corporate governance

• Shareholders play an important 

role in the fi nancing, governance 

and control aspects of our 

Company

• We aim to provide timely and 

accurate disclosure of the 

Group’s business developments 

and fi nancials via SGX 

announcements, our company 

website and Annual Report

• We seek to address 

Shareholders’ queries during 

AGMs

Clients and 

Business 

Partners

• Customers’ satisfaction 

surveys

• Feedback channels such 

as email, phone calls and 

teleconferences

• Face-to-face meetings

• Customer satisfaction

• Contract management

• Operational performance, 

quality and responsiveness

• Health, Safety, Security, 

Environment (“HSSE”) 

Excellence

• Customer satisfaction is crucial 

to the success of our business

• We strive to provide our 

customers with safe, superior 

quality, reliable and cost eff ective 

marine services

• We strive for continuous 

improvements to better our 

service delivery
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Stakeholders Method and Frequency of 

Engagement

Topics of Concern Our Response

Suppliers and

Contractors

• Perform assessment and 

continuous monitoring of key 

suppliers and contractors

• Regular meetings, 

teleconference and emails

• Health, Safety and 

Environment (“HSE”) 

Questionnaire for key 

contractors

• Product and service quality, 

price reliability and suitability 

to minimise downtime

• Timely supply of products 

and services

• Suppliers’ credit terms

• Compliance with CHO’s 

procurement policy and 

ethical business practices

• HSE Excellence

• We strive to establish strong, 

long-term and reliable 

relationships with our suppliers 

and contractors

• We establish robust policies 

governing supplier selection 

with a focus on capability, 

quality, fi nancial stability and 

business ethics

• We do not nor appear to favour 

any suppliers

• All regular suppliers are 

reviewed for their fi t and ability 

on a yearly basis by way of 

an Annual Contractor Audit. 

The audit ensures that our 

appointed contractors are in 

full compliance with our HSE 

requirements

Government 

and

Regulators

• Written and verbal 

communication

• Industry networking functions

•  Compliance with rules and 

regulations

• Sharing of industry best 

practices

• Governments shape the 

operating environments. Political 

factors, policies and regulations 

can aff ect how businesses 

are run and also create 

opportunities for companies

• We track topics of concern for 

governments and regulators to 

ensure that we are equipped to 

meet government requirements 

wherever we operate

Local 

Communities

• Meetings

• Community outreach 

initiatives

• Volunteer programmes

• Community investment

• Clean environment

•  We engage with community 

leaders and non-profi t 

organisations to reach out and 

render support to those in need

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT 
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT 
In 2016, we conducted our fi rst materiality assessment and identifi ed key issues that were important to CHO and our stakeholders. 

We have collected data for the material topics and will gradually be expanding the data collection to cover other material 

topics in the subsequent reports. The material topics will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it refl ects changes in 

our business and the external environment. 

Sustainability Area Material Topics GRI Standards Impact Boundary

Environment Compliance Environmental compliance 

(GRI 307)

Vessel operations

Energy and emissions Energy and emissions 

(GRI 302 and GRI 305)

Vessel operations and Corporate offi  ce

Waste management 

and disposal

Effl  uents and waste 

(GRI 306)

Vessel operations and Corporate offi  ce

Social Diversity and equal 

opportunity

Diversity and equal opportunity 

(GRI 405)

Vessel crew and Corporate offi  ce 

employees

Talent attraction and 

retention

Employment 

(GRI 401)

Vessel crew and Corporate offi  ce 

employees

Training and education Training and education 

(GRI 404)

Vessel crew and Corporate offi  ce 

employees

Occupational health 

and safety

Occupational health and safety 

(GRI 403) 

Vessel crew and Corporate offi  ce

Governance Anti-Bribery and 

corruption

Anti-corruption 

(GRI 205)

Vessel operations and Corporate offi  ce

ENVIRONMENT 

Compliance (GRI 307-1)

Our fl eet complies with all mandatory standards and abides 

by all relevant treaties for the prevention of marine pollution, 

including International Maritime Organization (“IMO”) resolutions, 

the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from 

Ships (“MARPOL”), the International Convention for the Safety of 

Life at Sea (“SOLAS”), the International Maritime Dangerous Goods 

(“IMDG”) code, fl ag administration, ballast water management, 

the Shipboard Oil Pollution Emergency Plan (“SOPEP”) regarding 

oil spills, and other standards regarding sewage, garbage and air 

pollution, as well as all national, regional and local regulations. 

Given the nature of our business of owning and chartering of 

vessels and the provision of marine support services for the 

off shore oil and gas industry, CHO takes extra care to ensure that 

we are in compliance with all environmental regulations. Marine 

transportation is one of the most highly regulated industries 

in the world. Ships and their crew undergo comprehensive 

inspections by classifi cation societies, port state control (“PSC”) 

and customer vetting. We have not reported the PSC defi ciency 

ratio1 for FY2020 as there were no PSC inspections carried out 

due to Covid-19. 

CHO undergoes yearly Document of Compliance (“DOC”) 

audits covering aspects of the International Safety Management 

(“ISM”) Code vis-à-vis the Company’s Health, Safety and 

Environment Management System (“HSEMS”) applicable to 

several jurisdictions including Singapore, Malaysia and Brunei 

among others. In addition, CHO has its own manual on 

Bunkering Operations Environmental Compliance based on 

MARPOL Annex I compliance, which is applicable to all vessels 

while bunkering, transferring, loading or discharging fuel oil 

or other oil-based materials. Our crew is trained in these 

procedures to ensure operations are carried out without any 

incidents that may pollute the environment and impact the 

safety of the vessel and its personnel. 

In FY2020, we did not identify nor were made aware of any 

non-compliance with environmental laws or regulations nor 

had any other breach of voluntary codes. We aim to continue 

maintaining zero cases of environmental non-compliance in 

the future. 

1 A PSC is the inspection of a vessel while in port or anchorage to verify that the condition of the vessel, as well as its machinery and equipment, follow international regulations, 
and that the vessel is manned and operated in compliance with these regulations. The PSC ratio is calculated as the ratio between the number of reported defi ciencies 
relative to the number of PSC inspections.
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Regulation Aim and Entry Into Force What We Have Done

IMO Energy Effi  ciency 

Design Index (EEDI) 

(MARPOL Annex VI, 

regulation 4)

Specifi es a minimum effi  ciency 

level per capacity mile according 

to ship type and size, for ships 400 

GT or over. 

Entry into force: 1 January 2013

Took measures such as regular propeller cleaning, hull 

cleaning and crew training for effi  cient machinery use. We 

plan to use engine oil additives to reduce friction and to 

improve engine effi  ciencies. We also plan to implement new 

technologies on our vessels during the next dry-docking 

period and whilst designing or purchasing new vessels to 

raise energy effi  ciency performance.

IMO Ballast Water 

Management

Convention

Sets standards for proper 

management of ballast water and 

sediments to prevent the spread of 

harmful marine species.

Entry into force: 8 September 2017

Our vessels are already compliant with the basic level (D1) 

of the IMO Ballast Water Management Convention and we 

plan to have our vessels to be D2 compliant by 2023.

IMO 2020 enhanced 

global sulphur limit 

(MARPOL Annex VI, 

regulation 14)

Enhances existing limits for 

sulphur content in marine fuel 

to reduce emissions of sulphur 

oxides and other pollutants.

Entry into force: 1 January 2020

Our vessels use marine gas oil (“MGO”) with sulphur content 

of equal or less than 0.5%m/m, which is within the ISO 8217 

2017 standard and complies with the Interim spec ISO PAS 

23263 from September 2019 and IMO 2020

Energy and Emissions (GRI 302-1, GRI 305-1, GRI 305-4)

As a charterer and vessel operator, we can infl uence our 

environmental performance in the following ways: choice 

of technology adopted by the vessels and how we operate 

the vessels. Fleet composition and vessel speed, which are 

dictated by market requirements, continue to be important 

factors aff ecting the environmental footprint of our business. 

To maximise the effi  ciency of our fl eet and further reduce our 

vessels’ energy consumption, we use innovative technologies 

and implement a number of operational measures. These include 

our continuous eff orts towards cargo and fl eet optimisation, 

where there is continuous monitoring of both the emission 

and fuel performance of the whole fl eet, while identifying 

potential operational improvements during navigations. Our 

Operations Department regularly liaises with our vessel Masters 

to plan the ocean routing of vessels to ensure the most fuel-

effi  cient route considering the weather, vessels’ load and 

stability conditions. Vessel speed is also monitored during 

adverse weather to minimise consumption, while keeping to 

the vessels’ schedule. 

In order to promote reduction of energy and fuel consumption, 

our operational procedures include:

- Regular maintenance of vessels, including propeller polishing, 

sludge removal and cleaning of the hull to improve vessel 

performance 

- Use of environmentally friendly anti-fouling hull paint 

(compliant to IMO AFS / CONF 26) to prevent barnacle 

growth

- On a daily basis, monitor and ensure that all operating 

vessels are sailing with optimised trim and draft 

- Use of fuel fl ow meters, where possible, to fi nd the most 

effi  cient speed for our vessels

- Choice of vessels with fl exible use of engine confi gurations 

to minimise fuel consumption when idling  

In FY2020, the total energy consumed was 931,739 GJ which is 

approximately 6% more than what we consumed in FY2019. The 

higher fuel (Marine Gas Oil (“MGO”)) consumption per running 

hour is due to a change in vessel activity as our vessels spent 

less time idling while waiting for client instructions or for other 
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activities to take place. In addition, the average horsepower of 

the fl eet that we operated in FY2020 increased as we disposed 

of smaller vessels as part of our fl eet optimisation strategy. 

As a result of the higher MGO consumption, our Greenhouse 

Gas (“GHG”) emissions have also increased by about 6%. The 

GHG emissions intensity of our operations was 0.59 tCO
2
e/

hour in 2020 which is an approximately 23% increase from 

0.48 tCO
2
e/hour in 2019. This increase is also a refl ection of 

the higher average horsepower of our fl eet.

The maritime industry entered a new phase in January 2020 as 

the IMO started implementing its Global Sulphur Cap. As part 

of several international initiatives aimed at reducing marine 

pollution and emissions, the new fuel regulations require all 

marine carriers to use low-sulphur fuel (up to 0.5% sulphur 

content). CHO welcomed the new regulations and ensures 

compliance to the new requirements. 

CHO strives to play our part in being environmentally 

responsible and reducing our GHG emissions. We are 

investing heavily in a number of technical solutions to meet 

or exceed the new regulations, fi nding innovative solutions 

and continuously improving our environmental performance. 

We have implemented a number of operational measures 

to further reduce our CO
2
 emissions to meet expected new 

regulations, including those to be adopted by the IMO. We 

track and analyse energy consumption on vessels via best 

practice methods in order to improve energy effi  ciency and 

reduce both fuel consumption and CO
2
 emissions. Our policy 

is refl ected in the Ship Energy Effi  ciency Management Plan 

which ensures that all marine operations for CHO’s owned 

and managed fl eet are conducted as effi  ciently, safely and 

reliably as possible. 

In addition to CO
2
, the vessel fuel combustion process also 

produces Nitrogen Oxides (NO
X
) emissions which are a 

function of the fuel type, engine age and class. In line with 

the 2020 Global Sulphur Cap, CHO vessels only use MGO 

which is considered a clean fuel because it has sulphur content 

below 0.5% m/m. 

The IMO has clear ambitions to reduce GHG emissions 

from ships and has thus introduced the IMO Data Collection 

System (“DCS”) on fuel consumption. Although the IMO DCS 

is applicable to vessels exceeding 5,000 gross tonnage, CHO 

is supportive of the IMO DCS and has plans to reduce GHG 

emissions of the fl eet through fl eet renewal, retirement of 

older less effi  cient vessels and the systematic roll out of our 

energy effi  ciency program, which audits vessels to identify 

operational and technical improvements to reduce onboard 

GHG in the coming years. We believe it is important to do 

our share in addressing climate change for the future viability 

of the industry. With our fl eet performance monitoring and 

optimisation system, CHO is well positioned to adopt the 

IMO DCS (if required) and prepare for future GHG regulations. 
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Waste Management and Disposal (GRI 306-2)

We are conscious that waste is generated from our operations 
and any mishandling in disposal may harm the environment. We 
also see waste reduction as a potential source of cost savings 
to our business. Onboard, we actively monitor our waste 
disposal metrics. Every vessel has a vessel specifi c Garbage 
Management Plan (“GMP”) which enforces responsible waste 
disposal for all our vessels. 

Energy consumption by vessels (non-renewable sources)

Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

In line with MARPOL Annex V on prevention of pollution by 
garbage from vessels, we segregate our waste using diff erent 
coloured receptacles and dispose of it according to the waste 
type and location of the vessel. 

In FY2020, we disposed of approximately 16% less waste as 
compared to FY2019 due to lower running hours.
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E-waste

On March 2018, the amendments to MARPOL Annex V regarding 
the addition of E-waste as a new garbage category as well as 
a new Garbage Record Book format came into force. E-waste 
encapsulates electrical and electronic equipment including all 
components, sub-assemblies and consumables. These can 
be hazardous to the environment if discarded improperly. 
Following the integration of these amendments, all of our 
vessels updated their GMP to include the proper disposal of 
E-waste. New Garbage Record Books have been introduced 
to replace the older versions onboard to appropriately record 
E-waste disposals. 

Sewage Treatment

The disposal of sewage waste onboard is always a primary 
concern for our crew. For best hygiene practices and overall 
well-being of our crew, all our vessels are equipped with an on-
board sewage treatment plant. These treatment plants operate 
on the principle of having an aeration chamber, where waste 
is mixed with aerobic bacteria. The bacteria is fed a constant 
supply of oxygen to stay alive so that a smooth and uninterrupted 
process of solid sewage treatment can be achieved. When 
the sewage tank becomes full, the treated sewage will be 
discharged ashore to an approved sewage tanker. Our crew 
receive regular training in the operation and maintenance of 
these plants to ensure they have the necessary knowledge and 
skills to operate and manage the equipment. 

Spills

Spills can occur when transferring materials between vessels, 
while loading and unloading and as a result of overfi lling 
containers. Leaks from storage tanks, hoses, piping or equipment 
failure can also cause spills. We work to proactively reduce 
the risk of spills through: 

i) Eff ective risk management: By identifying safety critical 
equipment where the potential for risk of impact from spills 
is highest, based on the type of equipment and chemicals 
used. 

ii) Tracking: We track spills across our operations and report 
key trends to management to help identify the cause of 
spills and how they can be prevented. We continually work 
to better understand spill trends by improving spill reporting 
and analysis where possible. 

iii) Awareness: Before a job begins, we identify and avoid 
potential spill hazards. We also work to raise spill prevention 
awareness among staff , crew and contractors to prevent 
or reduce the number, size and extent of spills that occur 
in our operations. When spills do occur, they are reported 
and cleaned up with the goal of achieving no lasting impact 
on the environment.

Managing our facilities and work practices to avoid spills, and 
having an eff ective response if they occur, is important to our 
local communities, employees and our business.

In FY2020, there were no signifi cant spills and we aim to 
continue achieving this target in the following year.
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SOCIAL 

Diversity and Equal Opportunity (GRI 405-1)

As a service provider, employees are one of our most vital 

assets. We embrace diversity and inclusion, aim to attract and 

retain the best people to work with us, develop their talents 

and abilities, and most importantly, ensure their safety and 

well-being. CHO embraces diversity and equal opportunities in 

various aspects of our business including our hiring policy and 

remuneration. We believe that diversity brings a combination 

of experiences, ideas and out-of-box thinking that helps us 

solve business problems with a broader perspective.

 

Fair Employment

We reward employees fairly based on their ability, performance, 

contribution and experience. All our employees are given 

employment contracts with clear terms and conditions and equal 

employment opportunities are clearly cited in the employee 

handbook. We abide by labour laws in the country of operation 

and adopt the Tripartite Guidelines on Fair Employment Practices. 

As a member of the Singapore National Employers Federation, 

we have also signed the Employers’ Pledge of Fair Employment 

Practices to show our commitment to providing a safe and 

inclusive workplace for our staff . In our hiring policy, CHO 

looks primarily at a candidate’s certifi cations, experience and 

ability to perform on the job. We do not discriminate against 

any particular group of people and we ensure that we have 

optimal manpower to match the needs of the business. In 

fact, as both policy and culture, we embrace and encourage 

diversity. All our staff  in the corporate offi  ce are hired on a 

full-time basis, while crew members are off ered short-term 

contracts to meet oil majors’ and charterers’ requirements. 

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT 

Gender Diversity 

As at 31 December 2020, among the 32 employees within the 

corporate offi  ce, 14 are male and 18 are female. However, given 

the nature of the work and the lifestyle onboard the vessels, 

the sector in general tends to have a predominantly male crew 

and our Company is no diff erent, with an all-male crew of 104 

as at 31 December 2020. We are supportive of having female 

crew members and do not discriminate against them.

Cultural Diversity

In CHO, we celebrate cultural diversity. We believe that part 

of our strength in being able to create solutions that address 

the needs of our customers, regardless of geography, lies in 

our pool of talent that comes from all over the world – our 

employees represent 16 diff erent nationalities. In previous years, 

we organised celebrations such as Chinese Lunar New Year, 

Hari Raya Puasa and Christmas get-togethers. Unfortunately, 

due to the on-going health and safety concerns surrounding 

Covid-19, our face-to-face celebrations and gatherings were 

cancelled. 

Age Diversity

In line with the Ministry of Manpower’s initiative to promote age-

friendly workplaces, CHO implemented an Age Management 

Programme in FY2018. This programme allows us to keep 

our valued employees who turn 62 on the same employment 

contract, or to redesign their role and provide the necessary 

training for re-employment on a modifi ed contract. This allows 

us to better address the needs and abilities of our senior staff , 

while keeping their valuable experience and expertise within 

the company. In line with the programme, we provide free 

health screening for all our employees together with other 

health talks. Again, due to the on-going health and safety 

concerns surrounding Covid-19, the Company has postponed 

all health screening and health talks in FY2020. We hope to be 

able to resume such health-related activities in FY2021 when 

the Covid-19 situation is expected to improve.
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^ Percentages are calculated based on total employee numbers (Corporate Offi  ce), as at 31 December 2020

Total number and rate (%)^ of new employees hire (Corporate Offi  ce)

Total number and rate (%)^ of employees turnover (Corporate Offi  ce)
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* The number of new employee hires for crew refers to the number of unique individuals who have fi rst joined Company in FY2019 as one employee may have several rotations (temporary contracts) 
with the company.

^ % calculated based on total employee number (crew) as at 31 December 2020.

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT

Talent Attraction and Retention (GRI 401-1)

Employment

As the industry faces challenging times, it is important that we 

recruit and retain the best talent. High turnover rates impact 

both our bottom line and the overall morale of the Company. 

We also believe that our experienced hires bring wisdom and 

knowledge to the Company that gives us a competitive edge. 

We understand that the demands of the modern fast-paced 

work environment take their toll on the physical, mental and 

emotional wellbeing of our workforce, and in turn, on their 

workplace performance. Focusing on our employees’ job 

satisfaction and wellbeing helps ensure that we deliver the 

best services to our customers as well as retain and support 

our valued staff .

We have focused on two aspects to enhance employees’ 

morale and wellbeing: increasing workplace flexibility to 

improve inclusion and cater for individual needs and focusing 

on training and education to increase resilience and personal 

development. 

Flexible Work

In line with the Company’s commitment to create a fl exible 

and caring work environment that supports our staff ’s work and 

life responsibilities, CHO adopted Flexible Work Arrangements 

(“FWA”) for our corporate offi  ce in October 2017. The FWA 

helps retain talent, including back-to-work individuals, and 

enhance productivity to achieve our business goal of providing 

top quality service to our customers. We currently have one 

member of staff  taking up FWA.

Total number* and rate (%)^ of new employees hire in 2020 (Crew)
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Training and Education (GRI 404-1)

To remain competitive, CHO recognises the need to develop 

our most important asset – our people – to maximise their 

potential and bring wider business benefi ts. With ongoing training 

development, employees will have up-to-date and relevant 

skills, broader and more in-depth industry knowledge and 

will be kept abreast of the latest technological developments. 

Our crew is required to attend various monthly, quarterly and 

bi-monthly training on International Ship and Port Facility 

Security (“ISPS”) as well as on emergency response to ensure 

that they have the necessary skills to respond in the event of 

an actual emergency. We hold regular in-house and external 

training programs for our corporate offi  ce employees covering 

both soft skills and more specifi c training for various job roles. 

Training courses attended by the employees in the corporate 

offi  ce in FY2020 included:

• Online IT Training on spam and phishing emails

• Designated Person Ashore (DPA)

• Company/Ship Security Offi  cer (CSO/SSO)

• Fire Safety Online training

• Understanding STCW incl. latest Amendment

• Complying with MLC 2006

Summary of our Social Performance Indicators

202018 14
Female Male

Total employees by gender as at 31 December 2020

(Corporate Offi  ce)

Training courses attended by the crew in FY2020 included:

• ISPS Training and Drills

• Emergency Drills

• Shipboard Training

In FY2020, our corporate offi  ce employees attended an average 

of 2 hours of training per person while the crew attended 

an average of 16 hours per person. Due to Covid-19, many 

workshops and training courses have been cancelled. As a 

result the number of formal training hours per person has fallen. 

However where possible, we have encouraged employees to 

participate in webinars. These webinar sessions have not been 

included in the numbers above.
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Training courses attended by the employees in the corporate 

offi  ce in FY2020 included:

• Online IT Training on spam and phishing emails

• Designated Person Ashore (DPA)

• Company/Ship Security Offi  cer (CSO/SSO)

• Fire Safety Online training

• Understanding STCW incl. latest Amendment

• Complying with MLC 2006

Summary of our Social Performance Indicators

202018 14
Female Male

Total employees by gender as at 31 December 2020

(Corporate Offi  ce)

Training courses attended by the crew in FY2020 included:

• ISPS Training and Drills

• Emergency Drills

• Shipboard Training

In FY2020, our corporate offi  ce employees attended an average 

of 2 hours of training per person while the crew attended 

an average of 16 hours per person. Due to Covid-19, many 

workshops and training courses have been cancelled. As a 

result the number of formal training hours per person has fallen. 

However where possible, we have encouraged employees to 

participate in webinars. These webinar sessions have not been 

included in the numbers above.

Hours of training per employee category
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Occupational Health and Safety (GRI 403)

Given the nature of our operations especially onboard vessels, 
health and safety is of utmost importance to us. CHO is 
committed to providing a safe operational environment for our 
off shore and onshore employees, customers and partners and 
aims to ensure that appropriate control measures are in place 
to mitigate any safety risks posed to stakeholders and assets. 

We are committed to ensuring full compliance with the 1974 
International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, which 
is an international maritime treaty which requires Signatory 
Flag States to ensure that their vessels comply with minimum 
safety standards in construction, equipment and operation. 

Our crew have been briefed on health and safety requirements 
during their initial orientation and provided with the Company’s 
HSEMS Manual for their guidance on all health and safety 
concerns onboard. Mandatory safety training specific to 
the job scope of the crew are provided during orientation. 
Examples of safety training provided includes: BOSIET, Crane 
Operator, H2S, HLO, HOIT, IMDG, RIGGER, Banksman, Security 
Awareness training. 

STOP Work Authority (“SWA”)
We provide regular training on health and safety which covers 
both our onshore and off shore personnel. We introduced the 
STOP Work Authority intervention campaign, which encourages 
our crew members to stop an activity if they observe a fellow 
crew member not abiding by safety protocols. 

Safety Alerts and Marine Circulars
We have implemented ‘Safety Alerts and Marine Circulars’ 
communication to disseminate information regarding our safety 
policies and share best safety practices. Such communication is 
shared via emails to our vessel masters who are then required 
to share the communication with the rest of the crew and 
declare compliance. Onshore employees are also encouraged 
to share real examples of unsafe situations or practices they 
observe on our premises to our Health and Safety team and 
this is shared company-wide which allows for learning across 
diff erent vessels and regions. 

C.A.R.E. Card Initiative (Behaviour Based Safety (“BBS”))
One of the most successful initiatives we have implemented to 
improve the health and safety of our staff  is the C.A.R.E. Card. 
The ultimate goal of CHO’s C.A.R.E. Card system is to create 
and maintain a safety culture where employees care for each 
other and actively intervene when they observe unsafe acts 
and conditions. It also provides an avenue for reinforcement 
of safe behaviours. 

Apart from being designed as a tool for observation and feedback 
and enhancing the culture of actively caring for each other, 
the acronym C.A.R.E. stands for:

C –  Comprehend the activity (Observe the behaviours and 
conditions closely) 

A – Act (Intervene for positive feedback or corrective discussion) 
R – Reinforce (Affi  rm safe behaviours) 
E –  Eliminate unsafe behaviours and conditions by appropriate 

corrective feedback

As an observation tool, the C.A.R.E. card covers key areas of 
observation that are major contributors to accidents. They are: 

• HSSE awareness 
• Adherence to policies and procedures 
• Body positions 
• Tools and equipment 
• Personal Protective Equipment 
• Environmental / working conditions and housekeeping. 

The C.A.R.E. card also provides a section to document the 
use of SWA. Each crew member is required to submit at least 
one observation via a C.A.R.E. card each month. The C.A.R.E. 
cards received are analysed and common unsafe behaviours 
are addressed through corrective actions. To reinforce the 
importance of working safely, best practices are translated into 
informative posters for sharing with the rest of the employees. 
In FY2020, a total of 3,249 C.A.R.E. cards were contributed by 
our fl eet of vessels. 

As at 31 December 2020, CHO has achieved 256 Loss 
Time Injury Free Days (period covering 10 April 2020 until 
31 December 2020) with zero cases of recordable injury. There 
were 6 fi rst-aid cases of which only 1 was work-related injury 
sustained by our crew (on 9 April 2020). Other fi rst aid cases 
were sustained by crew and contractors on CHO vessels when 
they were off  duty.

We continually emphasise the personal responsibility that all 
our employees and crew have for their own safety and that of 
their co-workers. After any accidents, a thorough investigation 
is carried out to help us understand the root cause and to take 
relevant corrective actions to prevent recurrence. The investigation 
process is clearly defi ned in the HSEMS Manual to guide the 
appointed investigator in conducting the investigation. In the 
case of near miss incidents, open and transparent reporting is 
highly encouraged as they provide a valuable learning lessons, 
which can eventually be applied within the HSEMS to implement 
preventive measures in preventing future incidents.
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We continue to strive for zero harm and will engage our staff , 
crew and other stakeholders we work with to create a safe and 
productive working environment. For offi  ce-based employees, 

2018 2019 2020

Man-Hours 677,185 903,365 636,862

First-Aid Case 0 0 6

Recordable Injury 0 2 0

Lost Time Injury 0 0 1

Fatalities 0 0 0

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate 0.00 2.20 1.57

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 0.00 0.00 1.57

Total Recordable Injury 

Frequency Rate
Recordable Injury

2.0

2

2.5 3

1.5

1
1.0

0.5

0 0
2018 2019 2020

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate Recordable Injury

Note: The fi gures in the table above for Recordable Injuries and Total Recordable Inquiry Frequency Rate  are based on 1,000,000 man hours worked

ergonomic chairs have been provided to ensure physical well-
being. To further promote employees’ health, annual wellness 
check-ups are conducted for all employees. 

Our response during Covid-19 

Business continuity and the health and safety of our employees 

are our primary concerns during this challenging Covid-19 

period. We implemented Safe Management Measures in line 

with government policies and requirements to safeguard 

the health and safety of our employees including providing 

hand sanitisers and face masks, enhanced sanitation of work 

facilities, implementing Safe Entry and TraceTogether systems, 

submission of travel and health declarations with temperature 

taking twice daily, enforcing safe distancing measures and 

compulsory wearing of masks.

From the time of the Circuit Breaker in Singapore, we transitioned 

to largely working from home. The Group was deemed to 

provide an essential service and so we were permitted to 

continuing operating on premise with as many non-essential 

employees working from home. All employees were provided 

with a laptop with secured access to the Company’s server. 

Microsoft Teams became our main mode of communication 

and face-to-face meetings have been replaced by virtual team 

meetings. In Phase 1 re-opening, our employees who were part 

of our operations team worked largely in the offi  ce as their roles

were deemed critical while the remainder rotated between home 

and the offi  ce (as they were required to perform essential tasks 

in the offi  ce). Overall, about 35% of our employees worked from 

home during the Phase 1 period. In Phase 2, normal operations 

resumed for the Operations team while the corporate offi  ce 

continued working from home on rotation. Employees who 

have been impacted by the border closures are also able to 

work from home for the long term.

On our vessels, crew are required to wear a mask at all times 

and take daily temperature readings. Sanitisers are provided 

at all levels of the accommodation and in the engine room 

and the crew are encouraged to wash and sanitise their hands 

regulary. Off -duty crew are also required to wear gloves during 

meal times and to maintain social distancing of 1m in the 

mess room. When vessels are at port receiving provisions, 

spares or undergoing inspection, our crew will ensure that 

the temperature of all vendors, inspectors, contractors and 

agents boarding the vessels are taken. In Singapore, all onshore 

personnel are required to submit a health declaration and to 

show a negative Covid-19 swab test result before they are 
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allowed to board the vessel. Visitors are also required to use 

personal protective equipment and bring their own packed 

water and food onboard. No sharing of food or drinks onboard 

the vessels is allowed. 

With global border controls in place, we have faced diffi  culties in 

organising regular crew changes as fl ights have been cancelled 

or borders have been closed. It has therefore been diffi  cult 

not only bringing new crew onto vessels but also sending 

existing crew home. In various countries, our crew has also 

been subjected to swab testing and quarantine where required. 

Closer to home, various measures have been implemented 

by the Maritime Port Authority (“MPA”) of Singapore working 

hand in hand with the Economic Development Board (“EDB”) 

to reduce the risk of exposing crew to onshore personnel and 

vice versa. Shore-based personnel are required to undergo 

Rostered Routine Testing on a regular basis and the frequency 

in 2021 increased from once every 14 days to once every 7 

days. Crew onboard vessels have to take a swab test at their 

last port of call before arriving in Singapore and upon arriving 

in Singapore, take another swab test before onshore personnel 

are permitted to board the vessel. Crew are not permitted to 

take shore leave and can only leave the vessel for medical 

reasons or to be repatriated. 

As part of our ongoing engagement with stakeholders, for 

the fi rst time in the Group’s history, we held a virtual Annual 

General Meeting (“AGM”), adhering to SGX’s regulations in 

relation to the Covid-19 pandemic. Shareholders were able to 

ask the Board questions pertaining to the business albeit ahead 

of time and were able to vote by appointing the Chairman as 

their proxy. The virtual AGM helped facilitate engagement with 

shareholders and the investing community further allowing the 

Group to provide transparent and timely disclosures. 

Many of our suppliers and contractors in Singapore and 

overseas have faced similar disruptions to their business. Where 

possible, we have broadened our supplier/vendor/contractor 

base to source equipment or provisions locally in Singapore 

or locally where our vessels are based. In addition, we work 

closely with equipment suppliers and vessel classifi cation 

societies to conduct remote audits and inspections. We are 

also more selective in terms of where we send our vessels for 

regular maintenance and repairs in light of potential Covid-19 

lockdowns in various countries. 

For our clients, some of whom are unable to travel to inspect 

our vessels, we conducted virtual inspections and kept in 

regular contact via Microsoft teams and other online meeting 

SUSTAINABILITY
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platforms. We also provided longer credit terms where required 

especially when certifying invoices took longer than usual 

due to working from home arrangements in many countries. 

GOVERNANCE 

Anti-Bribery and Corruption (GRI 205-3)

CHO has adopted a zero-tolerance policy towards any form 

of bribery and corruption and we are committed to acting 

transparently, fairly and with integrity in all our business activities 

and relationships. Our Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy 

(“Policy”) sets out the Group’s policies and guiding principles 

on how to conduct our businesses with honesty, fairness and 

to a high ethical standard. The Policy applies to Directors and 

Offi  cers, employees (full and part-time), contract workers 

(including crew), and consultants, representatives, agents and 

intermediaries engaged by the Group. 

The Policy works hand in hand with our Code of Conduct 

Policy and Whistleblowing Policy. Compliance with all three 

policies is of paramount importance and any non-compliance 

is treated as a serious violation and may lead to termination of 

employment or even legal sanctions. We have communicated 

our Polices to all our employees, Directors and Offi  cers and the 

policies are made publicly available to our other stakeholders 

on our corporate website. 

Our Code of Conduct Policy sets standards addressing many 

of the ethical and legal issues that we might face and serves 

as a guide to ensure that our actions and behaviours are in line 

with the Company’s expectations and are fair and ethical. Some 

of the considerations covered by the Code of Conduct Policy 

include confl icts of interest, fair competition, equal employment 

opportunities, accurate books and records, insider trading and 

safeguarding confi dential information among others. 

Our Whistleblowing Policy serves to encourage and provide 

a channel for stakeholders, including employees to report 

in good faith and in confi dence, without fear of reprisals, 

concerns about possible wrongdoing or breach of applicable 

laws, regulations, policies or other matters. The Whistleblowing 

Policy and procedures allows independent investigation of 

such matters and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken. 

In FY2020, there were no confi rmed or suspected cases of 

corruption.
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CH Offshore Ltd. (“CHO” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) recognise the importance of, and is 

committed to, maintaining high standards of corporate governance to ensure greater transparency and maximise long-term 

shareholder value.

As the Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the 

Company seeks to comply with the listing rules of the SGX-ST as prescribed in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Listing Rules”) 

and is guided in its corporate governance practices by the revised Code of Corporate Governance issued in 2018 (“Code”).

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to outline the main corporate governance framework and practices of the Company 

in this report, with specific reference made to each of the principles and provisions as set out in the Code. This report describes 

the Company’s corporate governance practices that were in place throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2020 

(“FY2020”). Where there were variations in the Company’s corporate governance practices from the provisions as set out in the 

Code (“Provisions”), explanations as to how the Company’s practices were consistent with the intent of the Principle in question 

is provided in the relevant paragraph of this report. The Company reviews its practices on ongoing basis, as and when required.

(A) 	 BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs 

Principle 1: 

The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with Management for the long-term 

success of the Company.

The Board oversees the business affairs of the Group. It provides leadership and guidance to Management, sets strategic objectives, 

ensures that the necessary financial and human resources are in place, and reviews management performance, with a view to 

achieving long-term success for the Company. The Board also ensures the adequacy of the Group’s control and risk framework 

and standards and ensures that obligations to its shareholders and other key stakeholders are understood and met.

The long-term vision and strategy for the Company is formulated and discussed at Board level, and its implementation, including 

articulation to shareholders and employees, is tasked to the Management led by the Executive Director. Management works with, 

and is accountable to, the Board.

Provision 1.1 of the Code

All Directors objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities as fiduciaries and take decisions in the best interests of the 

Group at all times. A Director who is interested in a transaction or proposed transaction will declare his/her interest and abstain 

from deliberations unless the Board is of the opinion that his/her presence and participation is necessary to enhance the efficacy 

of such discussions. Directors are required to abstain from voting in relation to conflict-related matters.

The Board has put in place a Code of Conduct Policy and Procedures to assist and guide the Directors and employees in acting 

honestly, ethically and respectfully and in identifying, disclosing and managing conflict of interest situations. The Code of Conduct 

Policy and Procedures further serve to emphasise the Group’s commitment to ethics and compliance with the law, for the 

protection of the Company’s interest and the promotion of transparency for the benefit of shareholders.
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The Board has also adopted an Anti-Bribery & Corruption Policy detailing the Group’s policy and procedures with respect to the 

conduct of the Group’s business and operations in an ethical, honest, fair and professional manner. The Anti-Bribery & Corruption 

Policy applies to all Directors, officers, employees and contract workers (including crew) and, where necessary and appropriate, 

outside parties acting on behalf of the Group, including but not limited to consultants, representatives, agents and intermediaries 

engaged by the Group. A Gift & Hospitality Policy has been put in place to set out the Group’s specific thresholds in relation to 

appropriate and acceptable gifts and hospitality to offer to or receive from clients, vendors and other relevant third parties. 

Provision 1.2 of the Code

The Company recognises the importance of appropriate training for its Directors. Newly-appointed Directors will be given briefings 

and an orientation on the business activities of the Group and its strategic directions, their duties and responsibilities as Directors, 

as well as a board meeting calendar for the year. They are furnished with information outlining their duties and obligations. 

From time to time, the Directors are provided with updates on any changes in relevant laws and regulations, code of corporate 

governance, financial reporting standards and industry related matters. In addition, the Directors are also encouraged to attend 

relevant training programmes, seminars and workshops to enhance their skills and knowledge. Where appropriate, the Directors’ 

training expenses will be borne by the Company. At the Audit Committee (“AC”) meetings, the external auditors would update the 

AC and the Board on new or revised accounting standards which are applicable to the Company or the Group. 

If a newly appointed Director does not have any prior experience as a director of a listed company, the Company will arrange for 

such first-time Director to attend the Mandatory Training in accordance to Rule 210(5)(a) of the Listing Manual, at the expense of 

the Company, conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors in order for the first-time Director to familiarise himself/herself 

with the roles and responsibilities of a director of public listed company in Singapore. No new Director was appointed in 2020.

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) reviews and makes recommendations on the training and professional development program 

to the Board. The Board was apprised of the training programmes attended by each Director in 2020.

Provision 1.3 of the Code

The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. It is responsible for the Group’s overall 

performance objectives, key operational initiatives, financial plans and annual budget, major investments, divestments and funding 

proposals, quarterly and full year financial performance reviews, risk management and corporate governance practices. Each 

Director exercises his/her objective judgement to act in good faith and in the best interest of the Company to enhance the long-

term value of the Group for its shareholders. The Board also considers sustainability issues, e.g. environmental, governance and 

social factors, in the formulation of Group strategies.

The Company has established financial authorisation and approval limits for borrowings, investments, acquisitions, disposals, 

capital and operating expenditures. Apart from its fiduciary duties and statutory responsibilities, the Board evaluates and approves 

important matters such as material acquisitions and disposal of assets, financial plans, capital expenditures, and major funding and 

investment proposals. It also reviews and approves the financial statements and annual reports and authorises announcements of 

financial results to be issued.

There is a formal delegation of authority matrix that sets out financial approval limits for the Board and Management regarding 

operational expenditure, capital expenditure, investments, financial costs and cheque signatory arrangements.

Provision 1.4 of the Code

The Board is supported by the Board Committees which were established to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities 

of overseeing the Group’s affairs and enhancing corporate governance. These Board Committees are the AC, the Remuneration 

Committee (“RC”) and the NC. The Board delegates specific responsibilities to these Board Committees which operate within 

specified terms of reference setting out the scope of their duties and responsibilities and procedures governing the manner in which 

each Board Committee is to operate and how decisions are to be taken. The Board accepts that while these Board Committees 

have the authority to examine particular issues and will report back to the Board with their decisions and/or recommendations for 

the Board’s endorsements, the ultimate responsibility on all matters lies with the Board.
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Provision 1.5 of the Code

As announced on 30 March 2020, the Company has ceased to publish its quarterly unaudited results, and instead, the Company 

will publish its unaudited results announcement on a half-yearly basis. Board meetings are typically scheduled to coincide with 

half-yearly financial results reporting in order to facilitate review of unaudited half yearly and full year financial results of the Group. 

Quarterly board meetings are also held after the close of each of the first and third quarters to provide updates to the Directors on 

the interim financial positions and performance of the Group. To facilitate Directors’ attendance at meetings, the dates of Board 

and Board Committee meetings as well as Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) are scheduled in advance, typically before the start of 

the financial year. Ad-hoc Board and Board Committee meetings are arranged as and when circumstances require.

Matters before the Board are diligently deliberated by the Board to ensure that the interests of the Company are protected. 

Meetings via telephone or videoconference are permitted under the Company’s Constitution. In between Board meetings, 

important matters are discussed in person or via telephone and are tabled for Board decision via circulating resolutions in writing. 

Supporting memorandum or papers are circulated to the Directors where relevant. Directors with multiple Board representations 

would ensure that sufficient time and attention are given to the affairs of the Company.

Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings during FY2020 are set out as follows (1): 

Directors

Board AC RC NC

No. of 

Meetings 

Held

No. of 

Meetings

 Attended

No. of 

Meetings

 Held

No. of 

Meetings

 Attended

No. of 

Meetings 

Held

No. of 

Meetings 

Attended

No. of 

Meetings 

Held

No. of 

Meetings 

Attended

Mr Thia Peng Heok George 5 5 5 5 1 1 1 1

Dr Benety Chang 5 5 5 5* 1 1* 1 1

Ms Jeanette Chang 5 5 5 5* 1 1 1 1*

Mr Heath McIntyre(2) 5 5 5 5* 1 1* 1 1*

Mr Tan Kiang Kherng 5 5 5 5* 1 1* 1 1*

Mr Tan Pong Tyea 5 3 5 3* 1 1* 1 0

Mr Tan Kian Huay 5 5 5 5 1 1 1 1

Mr Wan Hin Weng(3) 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1*

Notes:
(1) 	 Refers to meetings held/attended while each Director was in office.
(2) 	 Mr Heath McIntyre resigned as Executive Director on 20 November 2020.
(3) 	 Mr Wan Hin Weng passed away on 10 October 2020.

* 	 Attended as invitees.

Provision 1.6 of the Code

Directors are, from time to time, furnished with detailed information concerning the Group to enable them to be fully cognizant of 

the decisions and actions of the Group’s executive management. All Directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s records 

and information to enable them to keep abreast of the Group’s financial position. Detailed Board and Board Committee papers are 

prepared for each Board and Board Committee meeting and are circulated before each meeting. The Board and Board Committee 

papers include sufficient information from Management on financial, business and corporate issues to enable the Directors to 

be properly briefed on issues to be considered at Board and Board Committee meetings. Directors are at liberty to request from 

Management additional information as needed to make informed decisions.
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If a Director was unable to attend a Board or Board Committee meeting, he/she would still receive all the papers and materials for 

discussions at that meeting. The relevant Director would review them and advise the Chairman or Board Committee Chairman 

of his/her views and comments (if any) on the matters to be discussed so that they may be conveyed to other members at the 

meeting. 

Provision 1.7 of the Code

All Directors have separate and independent access to all levels of senior executives in the Group and the Company Secretary and 

are encouraged to speak to other employees to seek additional information if they so require.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings. The Secretary of Board Committees assists in ensuring coordination and 

liaison between the Board, Board Committees and Management. The Company Secretary, together with Management, also 

ensures that the Company complies with all applicable statutory and regulatory rules. The appointment and the removal of the 

Company Secretary rest with the Board as a whole.

Each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice, at the Company’s expense, concerning any 

aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their duties and responsibilities as Directors.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2:

The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable it to 

make decisions in the best interests of the Company.

The composition of the Board members was reduced from eight (8) to six (6) with the demise of an Independent Director, Mr Wan 

Hin Weng on 10 October 2020 and the resignation of an Executive Director, Mr Heath McIntyre on 20 November 2020. As at the 

date of this report, the Board comprises of: two (2) Independent Directors, three (3) Non-Executive Non-Independent Directors 

and one (1) Executive Director. The Directors of the Company as at the date of this report are as follows:

Mr Thia Peng Heok George Chairman, Independent Director

Dr Benety Chang Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Ms Jeanette Chang Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

Mr Tan Kiang Kherng Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

Mr Tan Pong Tyea Non-Executive Non-Independent Director 

Mr Tan Kian Huay Independent Director

Provisions 2.1, 2.2 & 2.3 of the Code

A Director who is independent in conduct, character and judgement and has no relationship with the Company, its related 

corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the 

exercise of the Director’s independent judgement in the best interests of the Group, is considered to be independent. 

The NC reviews the independence of each Director on an annual basis, and as and when circumstances require, by taking 

into account, inter alia, the criteria provided in the Listing Manual and the Code, the existence of any relationships between 

such Director and the Group, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders and officers and if applicable, whether such 

relationships can interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of such Director’s independent judgment. 

The NC has determined that all the Independent Directors are independent and have no relationship (whether familial, business, 

financial, employment or otherwise) with the Company, its related corporations, substantial shareholders or officers, which could 

interfere or be perceived to interfere with the Director’s independent judgment.

The current composition of the Board complies with the recommendation of the Code that Independent Directors make up at 

least one third of the Board as the Board Chairman is an Independent Director. 
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None of the Directors are related to one another except for Dr Benety Chang and Ms Jeanette Chang. Ms Jeanette Chang is the 

daughter of Dr Benety Chang. The background of each director is set out in the “Board of Directors” section of this Annual Report.

None of the Independent Directors have served on the Board beyond 9 years from the date of first appointment.

Provision 2.4 of the Code

The NC reviews the size and composition of the Board and its Board Committees annually. The NC and Board are of the view that 

the size and level of independence of the Board is appropriate and that the Board comprises of Directors who as a group have an 

appropriate balance and mix (as well as breadth and depth) of skills, knowledge and experience and diversity of thought, so as to 

foster constructive and robust debate and avoid groupthink. 

The current Board comprises of one (1) female Director and five (5) male Directors with an age group ranging from mid 40s to 

more than 70 years old. Each Director has been appointed based on the strength of his/her calibre, experience, grasp of corporate 

strategy and potential to contribute to the Company and its businesses. The Board provides diversity of expertise and knowledge 

in areas such as marine and offshore industry, accounting or finance, business or management experience, human resource, risk 

management, mergers and acquisitions, strategic planning experience and various other industry knowledge, required for the 

Board and the Board Committees to be effective.

Although the Company does not have a formal board diversity policy, due consideration would be given to the benefits of diversity 

and new Directors will continue to be selected on merits based on objective criteria. The Board does not intend to appoint persons 

as Directors by reason of their gender or age on the Board or simply to meet quotas. The Board has reservations on setting a quota 

as a target, as it may detract from the more fundamental principle that the candidate must be of the right fit and meet the relevant 

needs and vision of the Board and Company at the material time. 

Provision 2.5 of the Code

Non-Executive Non-Independent Directors and Independent Directors meet without the presence of Management from time 

to time and on a need basis, and any relevant feedback would be provided to the Board and/or Chairman, as appropriate. The 

Company also benefits from Management’s ready access to its Directors for guidance and exchange of views both within and 

outside the formal environment of the Board and Board Committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3:

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and no one individual has 

unfettered powers of decision-making. 

Provision 3.1 of the Code

Different individuals assume the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) functions in CHO. There is a clear separation of 

the roles and responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO. Mr Thia Peng Heok George is the Chairman of the Board and 

is an Independent Director. Dr Benety Chang is the CEO of the Group. The Board Chairman and the CEO are not related to each 

other.
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Provision 3.2 of the Code

The Chairman is responsible for leading and ensuring the effectiveness of the Board. This includes promoting a culture of openness 

and debate at the Board, ensuring that the members of the Board work together with integrity and competency, facilitating 

the effective contribution of all Directors and promoting high standards of corporate governance. The Chairman also ensures 

appropriate relations within the Board and between the Board and Management, engaging Management in constructive debate 

on strategy, business operations, enterprise risk and other plans. The Chairman also ensures effective communication with 

shareholders and other stakeholders.

The CEO is responsible for the leadership and overall management of the affairs of the Group. The CEO also sets strategic 

objectives and implement strategies to achieve the long-term sustainable growth of the Group and value creation. 

Provision 3.3 of the Code

Given that Mr Thia Peng Heok George is an Independent Director, the position of Lead Independent Director is not required in line 

with the Code.

Board Membership

Principle 4:

The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of Directors, taking into account the 

need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Provision 4.1 of the Code

The NC has put in place a formal and transparent process for all appointments to the Board. It has adopted written terms of 

reference defining its membership, administration and duties.

The NC’s primary functions are to evaluate and to review nominations for appointment and re-appointment to the Board and the 

various committees, to assess the effectiveness of the Board, to nominate any Directors for re-election at the AGM, having regards 

to the Director’s contribution and performance (such as attendance, preparedness, participation and candor), to determine whether 

or not the Director is independent, to review Board succession plan for Directors and to review the training and professional 

development programs for the Board. 

Provision 4.2 of the Code

As at the date of this report, the NC is chaired by Mr Tan Kian Huay with Dr Benety Chang and Mr Thia Peng Heok George as 

members. The majority of the NC members, including the Chairman, are Independent Directors. 
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Provisions 4.3, 4.4 & 4.5 of the Code

In the event that the appointment of a new Director is required, the NC taps on the resources of the Directors’ contacts and/or 

engage external consultants to source for potential candidates. The NC will seek to identify the competence and attributes that 

may be required for the Board to fulfil its responsibilities and may engage recruitment consultants or other independent experts 

to undertake research on or assess potential candidates for new positions on the Board. The NC then meets with the shortlisted 

potential candidates with the appropriate profile to assess suitability and to ensure that the candidates are aware of the expectation 

and the level of commitment required, before nominating the most suitable candidate to the Board for appointment as Director. 

The NC also conducts an annual review of the independence of a Director having regard to the circumstances set forth in Provision 

2.1 of the Code and Rule 210(5)(d) of the Listing Rule of SGX-ST. The NC has reviewed the independence of the Directors and 

affirmed that Mr Thia Peng Heok George and Mr Tan Kian Huay are independent and free from any relationship outlined in the 

Code. Each of the Independent Directors has also confirmed his independence.

The NC also determines annually whether a Director with multiple board representations and other principal commitments is able 

to and has adequately discharged his/her duties as a Director of the Company. The NC is of the view that, setting a maximum 

number of listed company board representations a Director should have is not meaningful, as the contribution of each Director 

would depend on their individual circumstances, including whether they have a full-time vocation or other responsibilities. The 

Board shares this view. 

Notwithstanding the number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments which the Directors held, 

the NC was of the view that the Directors have been able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and 

they are able to fulfill their duties as Directors of the Company. There is no Alternate Director on the Board.

At each AGM of the Company, not less than one third of the Directors for the time being (being those who have been longest in 

office since their last re-election) are required to retire from office by rotation. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election by the 

shareholders of the Company at the AGM. Also, all newly appointed Directors during the year will hold office only until the next 

AGM and will be eligible for re-election.

The NC, with each NC member abstaining in respect of his own re-election, has recommended to the Board the nomination of 

Directors retiring under Article 89 of the Company’s Constitution, namely Dr Benety Chang and Ms Jeanette Chang, for re-election 

at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. The Board has accepted the recommendations of the NC, and accordingly, Dr Benety 

Chang and Ms Jeanette Chang will be offering themselves for re-election. 

The details of Dr Benety Chang and Ms Jeanette Chang who will be retiring by rotation at the forthcoming AGM are set out on 

pages 125 to 130 of this Annual Report.
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Key information regarding all the Directors required under Provision 4.5 of the Code is set out below: 

Name of Director

Date of First 

Appointment

Date of Last 

Re-election

Present Directorships in Other Listed 

Companies and Other Principal 

Commitments

Past Directorships in

 Other Listed 

Companies held 

over the preceding

3 years 

Mr Thia Peng Heok 

George

30/03/2015 18/06/2020 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Independent Director of Yoma Strategic Holdings 

Limited

Other Present Principal Commitments:

Member of Board Of Trustees, National Cancer 

Centre Of Singapore 

Member of Board Of Governors, Singapore 

Institute Of Management

DiSa Limited

Dr Benety Chang 27/08/2018 21/09/2018 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Executive Director of Baker Technology Limited 

Other Present Principal Commitments:

Nil

Nil

Ms Jeanette Chang 27/08/2018 21/09/2018 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Executive Director of Baker Technology Limited 

Other Present Principal Commitments:

CEO of Baker Technology Limited 

Nil

Mr Tan Kiang Kherng 27/08/2018 18/06/2020 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Nil

Other Present Principal Commitments:

Chief Financial Officer of Baker Technology 

Limited

Nil

Mr Tan Pong Tyea 01/06/2010 28/03/2019 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Executive Director of Falcon Energy Group 

Limited

Other Present Principal Commitments:

CEO & Chairman of Falcon Energy Group Limited.

Mr Tan Kian Huay 30/03/2015 28/03/2019 Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies:

Nil

Other Present Principal Commitments:

Executive Director of Mercatus Co-operative 

Limited



44

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

CH Offshore Ltd.

Board Performance

Principle 5:

The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its board committees and 

individual Directors.

Provisions 5.1 & 5.2 of the Code

The Board noted the Code’s recommendation that the NC be responsible for assessing the Board as a whole, and that of each of 

the Board Committees and individual Directors.

The NC assesses the Board’s effectiveness as a whole by completing a Board Assessment Checklist. The Board Assessment Checklist 

takes into consideration factors such as the Board’s structure, conduct of meetings, risk management and internal control, and the 

Board’s relationship with Management. The NC also assesses the Board’s performance based on a set of quantitative criteria and 

financial performance indicators as well as share price performance which allow for comparison with industry peers. 

The NC assesses each Board Committee’s effectiveness as a whole by completing Board Committee Assessments for each Board 

Committee. 

The NC also evaluates the performance of each Director. The criteria include each Director’s commitment of time for Board 

and Board Committee meetings, level of participation, contribution and deliberation of issues at meetings, knowledge and 

understanding of the Group’s major risk factors as well as performance of tasks delegated to the Director. 

The NC is of the view that the primary objective of the assessment exercise is to create a platform to identify the Board’s strengths 

and make recommendations for improvements to be tabled to the Board for discussion and comment with a view to strengthening 

the effectiveness of the Board. The Company does not engage an external facilitator in respect of the assessment of performance 

of the Board and Board Committees. The NC has full authority to engage external facilitator to assist in carrying out the evaluation 

process, if the need arises.

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied with the performance and effectiveness of the Board and the Board Committees and the 

contribution by individual Directors to the effectiveness of the Board for FY2020.

(B)	 REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 

Principle 6: 

The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on Director and executive remuneration, and for 

fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and Key Management Personnel. No Director is involved in deciding 

his or her own remuneration.
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Provision 6.1 of the Code

The RC has adopted written terms of reference defining its membership, administration and duties.

The primary functions of the RC are to review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors, CEO 

and Key Management Personnel, including but not limited to Director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits in 

kind, to perform annual review of the remuneration of employees related to the Directors and substantial shareholders (if any) and 

to implement and administer the CH Offshore Employee Option Scheme.

No member of the RC is involved in deliberating in respect of any remuneration, compensation or any form of benefits to be 

granted to him/her. 

The recommendations of the RC have been submitted for endorsement by the entire Board of Directors.

Provision 6.2 of the Code

As at the date of this report, the RC is chaired by Mr Thia Peng Heok George with Mr Tan Kian Huay and Ms Jeanette Chang as 

members, two of whom are Independent Directors, including the Chairman. Mr Thia Peng Heok George was appointed as RC 

Chairman on 9 January 2021 in place of the late Mr Wan Hin Weng.

Provision 6.3 of the Code

The RC reviews the Company’s obligations under the service agreements of the Executive Director and Key Management Personnel 

that would arise in the event of termination of these service agreements to ensure that such service agreements contain fair and 

reasonable termination clauses.

Provision 6.4 of the Code

In discharging its functions, the RC may, at the Company’s expense, obtain such independent legal and other professional advice 

as it deems necessary. The Company has not engaged any remuneration consultants during the year under review.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: 

The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and Key Management Personnel are appropriate and proportionate to 

the sustained performance and value creation of the Company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the Company.

Provisions 7.1 and 7.3 of the Code

In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into account pay and employment conditions within the same industry and 

in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of individual Executive Director and 

Key Management Personnel. Consideration is also given to whether the remuneration packages are competitive and sufficient to 

ensure that the Company is able to attract and retain the best available executive talent, without being excessively generous, and 

be able to motivate the Executive Director and Key Management Personnel to provide good stewardship of the Company and to 

successfully manage the Company for the long term.



46

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

CH Offshore Ltd.

The Executive Director does not receive Directors’ fees. The remuneration for the Executive Director and Key Management 

Personnel comprises a base/fixed salary, allowance and a variable performance related bonus, which is designed to align the 

interests of the Executive Director and Key Management Personnel with those of shareholders and promote the long-term success 

of the Group. 

The RC reviews the remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel on an annual basis to ensure that it is commensurate 

with their performance, giving due regard to the financial and commercial health and business needs of the Company. 

The CHO Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was implemented on 27 May 2016 as an incentive plan for employees 

of the Group based on individual performance. The primary objectives of the Scheme include retention of key employees of the 

Group whose contributions are essential to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group, instilling loyalty and a stronger 

identification by participants with the long-term goals of the Company and attraction of potential employees with relevant skills 

to contribute to our Group creating value for the shareholders so as to align the interests of participants to the interests of the 

shareholders. Details of the Scheme are disclosed under the Directors’ Statement set out in pages 58 to 61 of this Annual Report.

To promote the long-term success of the Company, none of the Executive Director’s and Key Management Personnel’s 

remuneration is tied solely and specifically to the profitability of the Company or the Group. 

Provision 7.2 of the Code

The RC adopted a Director’s fee framework in which the Independent Directors will receive Directors’ fees in accordance with their 

contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, roles and responsibilities and the need to pay competitive 

fees to attract, retain and motivate the Independent Directors. The Independent Directors’ fees comprise a basic fee and additional 

fees for appointment as Chairman of the respective Board Committees as per the table below. 

Basic Fee for Independent Director $40,000 per annum

Audit Committee Chairman 50% of Basic Fee

Remuneration/Nominating Committee Chairman 25% of Basic Fee

The Independent Directors are not compensated to the extent that their independence may be compromised.

In addition to the above Independent Director’s fee, the RC and the Board proposed a fixed monthly Director’s Fee for each 

Shareholders’ Nominated Directors to be paid quarterly in arrears for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM. 

The Company noted that the Code has recommended the incorporation of appropriate “claw-back mechanisms” to allow the 

Company to reclaim the variable incentive-based component of remuneration from Directors and Key Management Personnel. 

There are, at present, no provisions allowing the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from the Executive 

Director and Key Management Personnel in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct 

resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Director 

in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: 
The Company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration, 
and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

Provisions 8.1(a) and 8.3 of the Code

The Directors’ remuneration disclosed below is shown in bands of S$250,000.

Remuneration paid or accrued to Directors for FY2020

Name of Directors 

Fixed

Component

(%)(1)

Bonus

Component

(%)(2)

Directors’

Fees

(%)

Total

Compensation

(%)

S$250,000 and up to S$500,000

Dr Benety Chang(3)

Below S$250,000

Mr Thia Peng Heok George

Mr Tan Kian Huay

Ms Jeanette Chang(3)

Mr Heath McIntyre(4)

Mr Tan Kiang Kherng 

Mr Tan Pong Tyea

Mr Wan Hin Weng(5)

93

–

–

–

100

–

–

–

7

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

100

–

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Notes:
(1)	 Fixed component refers to fixed/base salary earned, employer CPF and transport allowance.
(2)	 Bonus component refers to Annual Wage Supplement and variable performance related bonus. 
(3)	 Ms Jeanette Chang, a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director, is the daughter of Dr Benety Chang, who is the CEO and Executive Director of the 

Company.
(4)	 Mr Heath McIntyre resigned on 20 November 2020.
(5)	 Mr Wan Hin Weng passed away on 10 October 2020.

Provisions 8.1(b) and 8.3 of the Code

Remuneration paid or accrued to the Key Management Personnel for FY2020

The Key Management Personnel’s remuneration disclosed below is shown in bands of S$250,000.

Name of Key Management Personnel

Fixed

Component

(%)(1)

Bonus

Component

(%)(2)

Benefits

(%)(3)

Total

Compensation

(%)

Below S$250,000

Mr Lim Tze Kern Kenny

Mr Lee Mun Keat

Mr Victor Gordon Pinto (4)

93

93

90

7

7

–

–

–

10

100

100

100

The aggregate remuneration paid to the three Key Management Personnel for FY2020 was S$570,302.

Notes:
(1)	 Fixed component refers to fixed/base salary earned, employer CPF and transport allowance.
(2)	 Bonus component refers to Annual Wage Supplement and variable performance related bonus.
(3)	 Benefits refer to paid annual leave.
(4)	 Mr Victor Gordon Pinto passed away on 29 August 2020.
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The remuneration of each individual Director and Key Management Personnel (who are not also Directors of the Company) is 

not disclosed in dollar terms as remuneration is a commercially sensitive matter, given that the Company operates in a highly 

competitive environment where potential poaching of employees by competitors is fairly common. The Board is of the view that 

the deviation from Provision 8.1 of the Code will not be prejudicial to the interest of shareholders.

As at the date of this Corporate Governance Report, there were 2 Key Management Personnel in the Company. 

There were no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits granted to any Director, the CEO, Executive Director and 

Key Management Personnel for FY2020.

Provision 8.2 of the Code

Save as disclosed in the above remuneration table for Directors, there is no employee in the Group who is an immediate family 

member of any of the Directors or the CEO and whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 during FY2020. “Immediate family 

member” means spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent. 

Ms Jeanette Chang, a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director, who is also the daughter of Dr Benety Chang (the CEO and 

Executive Director of the Company) received remuneration in the form of Director Fees. The amount of fees received by Ms 

Jeanette Chang is less than the prescribed amount of S$100,000 and is subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

(C)	 ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: 

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound system of risk management 

and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Provision 9.1 of the Code

Risk management is an integral part of the Group’s business strategy. In order to safeguard and create value for stakeholders, 

the Group proactively manages risks and embeds the risk management process into the Group’s planning and decision-making 

process. The Board has overall responsibility for the governance of the Group’s risk management and internal controls. The Risk 

Management Committee (“RMC”), has been set up to assist the Board in performing reviews and updates of the risk register to 

identify new risks and re-rank the severity and the applicability of the existent risks. The RMC comprises of CEO/Executive Director, 

Financial Controller (“FC”), Executive Officer(s) and all departmental heads.

The Board determines the Company’s levels of risk tolerance and risk policies and oversees Management in the design, 

implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. The Board considers the nature and extent 

of the significant risks which the Company may take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation and reviews and 

guides Management in the formulation of risk policies and processes to effectively and proactively identify, evaluate and manage 

significant risks to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets.

The Board has implemented an Enterprise Risk Management Framework for the identification, assessment, monitoring and 

reporting of significant risks. The Company maintains a risk register which identifies the material risks facing the Group and 

implements internal controls to manage or mitigate those risks. The RMC presents the risk register (with revisions, if any) to the 

Board for review and discussion at least twice a year.
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The work of the internal auditors and the report of the external auditors have enabled the identification of key risks which are 

reported to the AC to facilitate the Board’s oversight of the effectiveness of risk management and the adequacy of mitigating 

measures taken by Management to address the underlying risks. The internal audits are conducted to assess the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls in addressing financial, operational, information technology and 

compliance risks. In addition, material control weaknesses over financial reporting, if any, are highlighted by the external auditors 

in the course of the statutory audit.

All audit findings and recommendations made by the internal and external auditors are reported to the AC and significant findings 

are discussed at the AC meetings. Management follows up on all recommendations to ensure timely remediation of audit issues 

and reports the status to the AC.

Provision 9.2 (a) and 9.2(b) of the Code

The Board has received written assurance from the CEO and the FC as well as the relevant Key Management Personnel that:

(a)	 The financial records of the Group have been properly maintained and the financial statements for FY2020 give a true and 

fair view of the Group’s operations and finances; and

(b)	 The system of risk management and internal controls in place within the Group is adequate and effective in addressing the 

material risks in the Group in its current business environment including material financial, operational, compliance and 

information technology controls, and risk management systems.

Based on the risk management and internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal 

and external auditors and reviews performed by Management and the Board Committees as well as the written assurance received 

from the CEO and the FC as well as the relevant Key Management Personnel, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the 

opinion that the Group’s internal controls were adequate and effective as at 31 December 2020 to address financial, operational, 

compliance and information technology controls and risk management systems, which the Group considers relevant and material 

to its operations. 

The Board noted that the system of risk management and internal controls established by the Group provides reasonable, but 

not absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen as it strives to 

achieve its business objectives. In this regard, the Board also notes that no system of risk management and internal controls can 

provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, 

fraud or other irregularities.

The Board is updated quarterly on the Group’s financial positions and performance with explanations for significant variances in 

financial performance. The Board is also provided with quarterly updates on key business and operational activities.

As part of the risk management process, general IT controls and cyber security measures are also reviewed to ensure that IT 

risks and cybersecurity threats are identified and mitigated. In addition, as part of the Group’s business continuity plan, IT disaster 

recovery planning and tests are conducted to ensure that critical IT systems remain functional during a crisis.
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Audit Committee

Principle 10: 

The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

Provision 10.1 of the Code

The primary functions of the AC are:

•	 Review with the external auditors the audit plan including the nature and scope of the audit before its commencement, 

their annual reports, Management letters and Management’s response;

•	 Review significant financial reporting issues and judgements (including legal and regulatory matters that may have material 

impact on the financial statements) so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and any 

formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance. This includes review of (i) half-yearly and full 

year financial statements before submission to the Board for its approval of publication via SGXNet; and (ii) interim financial 

positions and performance of the Group;

•	 Review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors taking into consideration the requirements under the 

Accountants Act (Chapter 2) of Singapore;

•	 Review the nature and extent of non-audit services performed by the external auditors;

•	 Examine the scope of internal audit procedures and the results of the internal audit;

•	 Review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function and ensure that it is adequately resourced and has 

appropriate standing within the Company;

•	 Review the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information 

technology controls and risk management systems and report on any pertinent aspects of risks thereto and ensure that a 

review of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls is conducted at least. Such a review can be carried out by 

the internal and/or external auditors;

•	 Review the assistance given by Management to the external and internal auditors;

•	 Meet with the external and internal auditors without the presence of Management at least annually;

•	 Review interested persons’ transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST;

•	 Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment/re-appointment/removal of the external auditor and approve 

the audit fees and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

•	 Review arrangement by which staff of the Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties 

in matters of financial reporting or other matters, so as to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent 

investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action. The Company publicly discloses, and clearly 

communicates to employees, the existence of a whistle-blowing policy and procedures for raising such concerns;

•	 Review the assurance from the CEO and the FC on the financial records and financial statements;
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•	 Investigate any matter which falls within the AC’s terms of reference, having full access to and co-operation by Management 

and the full discretion to invite any Director or Executive Officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable 

it to discharge its functions properly;

•	 Undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its findings from time 

to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC; and

•	 Undertake such other functions and duties as may be prescribed by statute and the Listing Rules or recommended by 

the Code and by such amendments made thereto from time to time. Apart from the duties listed above, the AC may 

commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters where there is suspected fraud or irregularity, or 

failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore or other applicable law, rule or regulation, which has or is likely 

to have material impact on the Company’s or Group’s operating results and/or financial position.

The AC has been given full access to and has obtained the co-operation of Management. The AC has reasonable resources to 

enable it to discharge its functions properly.

The AC met five times during the year under review.

During the year, the AC reviewed the half yearly and full year results of FY2020, including the adequacy of disclosures as well as the 

key changes in accounting policies applied. In the review of the financial statements, the AC has discussed the Key Audit Matters 

with Management and the external auditor. The AC concurs with the basis and conclusions in the auditors’ report with respect to 

Key Audit Matters.

Provision 10.2 of the Code

As at the date of this report, the AC is chaired by Mr Thia Peng Heok George with Mr Tan Kian Huay and Ms Jeanette Chang as 

members, two of whom are Independent Directors. Ms Jeanette Chang was appointed as AC member on 9 January 2021 in place 

of the late Mr Wan Hin Weng.

Mr Thia Peng Heok George is a Certified Public Accountant and practised as an accountant with more than 35 years’ experience in 

merchant banking and financial services. All members of the AC are appropriately qualified, with at least two members having the 

requisite financial management expertise and experience.

Provision 10.3 of the Code

None of the members nor the Chairman of the AC are former partners or Directors of the Group’s auditing firm.

Provision 10.4 of the Code

The internal audit function is outsourced to MS Risk Management Pte Ltd, an associate of international public accounting firm, 

Messrs Moore Stephens LLP. The internal auditors report to the Chairman of the AC on any material weaknesses and risks identified 

in the course of the internal audit, which will also be communicated to Management. Management will accordingly update the AC 

on the status of the remedial action plans.

The internal auditors meet the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The AC has reviewed the adequacy of the internal audit function and is satisfied that the Company’s internal audit function is 

staffed by qualified and experienced personnel.
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The AC ensures that Management provides good support to the internal auditors and provides adequate access to documents, 

records, properties and personnel when requested in order for the internal auditors to carry out its function accordingly. The 

internal auditors also has unrestricted access to the AC on internal audit matters.

The AC is satisfied that the Group’s internal audit function was independent, effective and adequately resourced.

Provision 10.5 of the Code

The AC meets annually with the external auditors and with the internal auditors without the presence of Management. These 

meetings enable the external auditors and internal auditors to raise issues encountered in the course of their work directly to the 

AC. 

The AC reviewed and approved the external auditors’ audit plan for the year and assessed the quality of the work carried out by 

the external auditors in accordance with the Audit Quality Indicators Disclosure Framework published by the Accounting and 

Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”), and is satisfied with the performance. Taking into account the requirements under the 

Accountants Act (Chapter 2) of Singapore, the AC has undertaken a review of all the non-audit services provided by the external 

auditors during the period under review and is satisfied that such services would not, in the AC’s opinion, affect the independence 

and objectivity of the external auditors. During the period under review, the aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors, 

Ernst & Young LLP (“EY”), amounted to S$79,000 with the fees paid for its provision of audit services. No non-audit services paid 

to EY during the period under review. 

EY is an audit firm registered with the ACRA. Both the AC and Board have reviewed the appointment of different auditors for its 

significant associated company and are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors would not compromise the standard 

and effectiveness of the audit of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Listing Rule 712 and 716. 

Changes to accounting standards and accounting issues which have a direct impact on the financial statements were reported to 

the AC and highlighted by the external auditors in their meetings with the AC.

Each member of the AC abstains from voting on resolutions and making any recommendation and/or participating in discussion 

on matters in which he is interested. Ms Jeanette Chang will not participate in AC discussions in relation to any interested person 

transactions with Baker Tech Group or any matter that might give rise to a conflict of interest with Baker Tech Group and shall 

abstain from voting on such proposals at AC meetings.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has implemented a whistleblowing policy, which serves to encourage and provide a channel for employees to 

report in good faith and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible wrongdoing or breach of applicable laws, 

regulations, policies or other matters. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such matters 

and for appropriate follow-up action.

The Policy establishes the processes by which whistleblowing complaints are handled and the confidentiality and identity of the 

whistleblower is maintained and protected. 

The AC ensures that independent investigations and any appropriate follow up actions are carried out. Details of this policy have 

been disseminated and made available to all employees of the Group. The Company’s whistle-blowing policy is published on its 

website. To date, there were no reports received through the whistle blowing mechanism. 
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(D)	 SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT 

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: 

The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders’ rights and have the 

opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced and 

understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

Provision 11.1 of the Code

The Company is committed to treat all shareholders fairly and equitably to facilitate the exercise of their ownership rights by 

providing them with adequate, timely and sufficient information pertaining to the changes of Group’s business which could have 

a material impact on the Company’s share price.

Provision 11.2 of the Code

Each distinct issue is proposed as a separate resolution at general meetings. All resolutions proposed at general meetings shall 

be put to vote by way of a poll pursuant to Rule 730A(2) of the Listing Manual. All votes cast, for or against, and the respective 

percentages, in respect of each resolution are tallied and disclosed at the meeting and an announcement with the detailed results 

showing the numbers of votes cast for and against for each resolution and the respective percentage will be released via SGXNet 

after the general meetings.

Provision 11.3 of the Code

The Chairman of each of the AC, RC and NC, or members of the respective Committees standing in for them, are present at 

each AGM, and other general meetings held by the Company, if any, to address shareholders’ queries. Senior Management is also 

present at general meetings to respond, if necessary, to operational questions from shareholders that may be raised. The external 

auditor will also be present to address queries regarding the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s 

report.

Provision 11.4 of the Code

The Group believes in encouraging shareholders’ participation at general meetings. A shareholder who is entitled to attend 

and vote may either vote in person or in absentia through the appointment of one or more proxies (who can either be named 

individuals nominated by the shareholder to attend the meeting or the Chairman of the meeting as the shareholder may select). 

The Company’s Constitution allows a shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in place of the 

shareholder. Specified intermediaries, such as banks and capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services, 

may appoint more than two proxies. This will enable indirect investors, including CPF investors, to be appointed as proxies to 

participate in shareholders’ meetings. Such indirect investors, where so appointed, will have the same rights as direct investors 

to vote at the shareholders’ meetings. Voting in absentia by mail, facsimile or email is currently not permitted to ensure proper 

authentication of the identity of shareholders and their voting intent.

Provision 11.5 of the Code

Minutes of general meetings recording the substantial and relevant comments and queries relating to the agendas of the general 

meetings raised by shareholders, together with responses from the Board and Management, are prepared by the Company 

Secretary. These minutes will be made available to shareholders upon their request.
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Provision 11.6 of the Code

The Group does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends will depend on the Group’s earnings, 

general financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, cash flow, general business condition, development plans 

and other factors as the Directors may deem appropriate.

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 12: 

The Company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of shareholders during general 

meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company.

Provisions 12.1, 12.2 and 12.3 of the Code

The Company communicates information to shareholders and the investing community through announcements that are released 

to the SGX-ST via SGXNET. Such announcements include financial results, material transactions, and other developments relating 

to the Group requiring disclosure under the corporate disclosure policy of the SGX-ST.

All shareholders of the Company are sent a copy of the Annual Report and notice of the AGM. The notice of AGM, which sets out 

all items of business to be transacted at the AGM, is also advertised in the newspapers. 

In addition to the above, the shareholders can access the Company’s corporate website (http://www.choffshore.com.sg/) at their 

convenience to receive updates. The Company’s corporate website also provides information about the Company, its services 

and its Board of Directors and Management. In the investor relation section of the corporate website, the Company maintains 

announcements and financial results released on SGXNet as well as annual reports of the Company. 

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with continuing disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to 

the Listing Rules and the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore (“Act”), the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be 

informed (through SGXNet) of all major developments that impact the Group on an equal and timely manner. 

The Group has specifically entrusted its CEO/Executive Director and FC with the responsibility of facilitating communications with 

shareholders and analysts and attending to their queries or concerns. 

Although the Company does not have an investor relations policy, in addition to communicating with shareholders at the AGM, 

shareholders may raise questions to the Company through the Company’s website to which the Company may respond.

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, the AGM scheduled on 23 April 2021 will be held via electronic means pursuant to the 

COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business 

Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the forthcoming AGM 

via electronic means (including arrangements by which the meeting can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast 

or live audio-only stream), submission of questions in advance, addressing of substantial and relevant questions and voting by 

appointing the Chairman of the meeting as proxy at the forthcoming AGM, are set out in the Notice of the forthcoming AGM. 

Printed copies of Annual Report, Notice of AGM and Proxy Form will be despatched to the Shareholders. Minutes of AGM will be 

published within 1 month after the AGM via SGXNet and the Company’s corporate website.
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(E)	 MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

Principle 13: 

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material stakeholders, as part 

of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the Company are served.

Provisions 13.1,13.2 and 13.3 of the Code

The Company regularly engages its stakeholders through various mediums and channels to ensure that its business interests 

are aligned with those of its stakeholders. The Company’s stakeholders have been identified as those who are impacted by its 

business and operations and those who are similarly able to impact the Company’s business and operations. The Company’s 

efforts on sustainability are focused on creating sustainable value for its key stakeholders, which include employees, shareholders 

and financiers, clients and business partners, suppliers and contractors, government and regulators and local communities. 

The Company has identified key areas of focus in relation to the management of stakeholder relationships. For details on the key 

areas of focus, please refer to the Sustainability Report on pages 18 to 34 of this Annual Report.

(F) 	 DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company has clear guidelines for dealings in securities by Directors and employees. CHO’s Directors and employees are 

prohibited from dealing in CHO’s shares for a period of one month prior to the announcement of the Company’s half yearly and 

full year financial results. In addition, Directors and employees are also expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even 

when dealing in securities within permitted trading periods. Employees who attend management committee meetings have to 

observe the “closed window” periods.

(G)	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Save as disclosed in this Report, there were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of the 

CEO, Directors or controlling shareholders during FY2020. 

(H)	 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

All interested person transactions (“IPTs”) are subject to review by the AC which determines whether such transactions are in the 

best interest of the Company and shareholders. 

The Company has put in place an internal procedure to track IPTs of the Company. The Finance Department is in charge of 

maintaining an IPTs Register in accordance with the reporting requirements stipulated in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual. 

The IPTs Register is reviewed by AC and Board on quarterly basis. The Company also maintains the list of interested persons and 

their associates (which is to be updated immediately if there are any changes) to enable identification of interested persons. The 

list of interested persons is subject to review, verification and/or affirmation on a quarterly basis by each board member.
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The aggregate value of IPTs entered into under review is as follows:

Interested Person Transactions
Nature of

relationship

Aggregate value of all IPTs during 
the financial period under review 
(excluding transactions less than 

S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under Shareholders’ 
Mandate pursuant to Rule 920

Aggregate value of all IPTs 
conducted under 

Shareholders’ Mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920 of 

the Listing Manual 
(excluding transactions 

less than S$100,000)
(US$’000) (US$’000)

Baker Technology Group of Companies See Note(1) 104 195

Falcon Energy Group of Companies See Note(2) 207 –

Note:
(1)	 Baker Technology Limited (“Baker Tech”) holds 54.98% shareholding interest in the Company via its wholly owned subsidiary, BT Investment Pte. Ltd.  

Dr Benety Chang, Ms Jeanette Chang and Mr Tan Kiang Kherng are Directors of the Company. Each of them is an associate of Baker Tech Group.

(2)	 Falcon Energy Group Limited. (“FEG”) holds 34.01% shareholding interest in the Company via its wholly owned subsidiary, Energian Pte Ltd. Mr Tan Pong 
Tyea is a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director of the Company. He is an associate of FEG Group.

None of the IPTs in FY2020 can be classified as provision of financial assistance.

At the forthcoming AGM, the Company will seek to renew shareholders’ approval for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated 

companies to enter into transactions falling within the categories of interested person transactions described in the Appendix 

dated 1 April 2021 with any party who is of the class or classes of interested persons described in the said Appendix, provided that 

such transactions are entered into in accordance with the review procedures set out in the said Appendix.

CONCLUSION

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance practices for maintaining and promoting investor 

confidence. The Company will continue to review and improve its corporate governance practices on an ongoing basis.

 



58
Directors’ Statement

62
Independent Auditor’s Report

66
Statements of Financial Position

67
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

68
Statements of Changes in Equity

69
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

70
Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL
CONTENT



58 CH Offshore Ltd.

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT
The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements 

of CH Offshore Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the statement of financial position and 

statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

In the opinion of the directors, 

(i)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company are drawn up to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company 

as at 31 December 2020, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in 

equity of the Company for the year ended on that date and;

(ii)	 as at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due.

1.	 DIRECTORS

	

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Mr Thia Peng Heok George

Dr Benety Chang

Ms Jeanette Chang

Mr Tan Kiang Kherng

Mr Tan Pong Tyea

Mr Tan Kian Huay

2.	 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES 

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 

are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 

shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

3.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ 

shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares and 

share options of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated on the following 

page:



Annual Report 2020 59
3.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT’D)

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of director

At 

1.1.2020

At 

31.12.2020

At 

1.1.2020

At 

31.12.2020

The Company

Ordinary shares

Dr Benety Chang − − 387,535,300 387,535,300

Mr Tan Pong Tyea − − 239,760,131 239,760,131

Ultimate holding company

Baker Technology Limited

Ordinary shares

Dr Benety Chang 87,003,837 87,747,437 19,151,771 19,151,771

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 

21 January 2021.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Mr Tan Pong Tyea and Dr Benety Chang are deemed to have an 

interest in all the related corporations of the Company.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interest in shares, 

share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial 

year, or at the end of the financial year.

4.	 SHARE OPTIONS

	 (a)	 Options to take up unissued shares

The Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was 

approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 27 May 2016.

The scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) whose members are:

Mr Thia Peng Heok George	 (Chairman, Independent Director)

Mr Tan Kian Huay	 (Independent Director)

Ms Jeanette Chang	 (Non-Executive Non-Independent Director)

During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 

was granted.

	 (b)	 Options exercised

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of 

the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

	 (c)	 Unissued shares under option

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 

under option.
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5.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three Non-Executive Directors. The members of the committee are:

Mr Thia Peng Heok George	 (Chairman, Independent Director)

Mr Tan Kian Huay	 (Independent Director)

Ms Jeanette Chang 	 (Non-Executive Non-Independent Director)

The AC has met five times during the financial year and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive 

directors and external and internal auditors of the Group:

	 (a)	 The audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal 

accounting control;

	 (b)	 The Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

	 (c)	 The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group before their 

submission to the directors of the Company and external auditor’s report on those financial statements;

	 (d)	 The half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and financial position 

of the Company and the Group;

	 (e)	 The co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors; and 

	 (f)	 The appointment of the external auditor of the Group.

The AC has full access to and the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources required for it 

to discharge its function properly.    It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend its 

meetings.  The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.

The AC has recommended to the directors the nomination of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as external auditor of the Group at 

the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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6.	 AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of Directors

Mr Thia Peng Heok, George

Chairman

Dr Benety Chang 

Chief Executive Officer

Singapore

12 March 2021
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of CH Offshore Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which 

comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2020, the statements of changes 

in equity of the Group and the Company and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated 

statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position and the 

statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 

Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS (I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of 

the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of the 

consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in 

equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional 

Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 

description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to 

respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 

including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 

financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Carrying value of vessels

As at 31 December 2020, the Group owned 6 vessels with an aggregate carrying value of US$60,800,000. Due to the presence of 

impairment indicators, impairment testing was conducted by comparing the carrying amount of the vessels to their recoverable 

amounts, determined based on the value-in-use calculation. US$8,500,000 was recorded as impairment loss in the current year. 

This area was significant to our audit as the carrying value of the vessels represented 79% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 

December 2020 and significant judgement and estimates were involved in determining the recoverable amount of the vessels. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, obtaining an understanding of management’s impairment assessment process, 

including the identification of cash generating units and indicators of impairment. We involved our internal valuation specialist 

in reviewing the valuation methodology and key valuation assumptions used by management such as discount rates, charter 

rates, dry-docking expenditure and residual values against comparable market data, considering the specifications and age of the 

vessels. We also tested the reasonableness of management’s key assumptions to available industry and historical data applicable to 

the Group, taking into consideration the impact associated with COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, we also reviewed the adequacy 

of disclosures on the key sources of estimation used in determining the recoverable amounts and carrying value of vessels set out 

in Note 3 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively. 

Recoverability of trade receivables 

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables, net of allowance for expected credit loss (“ECL”) of 

US$7,146,000 amounted to US$4,760,000, which represented 29% of its current assets. 

Due to the inherent risk surrounding the oil and gas industry which the Group operates in, the credit quality of the Group’s 

customers may have been impacted, giving rise to increased risks in collection of trade receivables. The Group determines the 

ECL of trade receivables by making debtor-specific assessment of expected impairment loss for overdue trade receivables and 

using a provision matrix for remaining trade receivables that is based on its historical credit loss experience, debtors’ ability to pay 

and forward-looking information specific to the debtors and economic environment. This assessment requires management to 

exercise significant judgement. Accordingly, we determined this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, obtaining an understanding of the Group’s processes and key controls relating 

to the monitoring of trade receivables and considering their aging to identify collection risks, as well as the Group’s process in 

determining whether a debtor is credit impaired. We performed audit procedures including, amongst others, reviewing the ECL 

model used by the management in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables and reviewing management’s assessment of 

the recoverability of long outstanding and overdue trade receivables. We tested the reasonableness of management’s assumptions 

and inputs used in the ECL model by comparing to historical credit loss rates, and reviewed data and information that management 

has used, including consideration of forward-looking information based on specific economic data and relevant considerations 

of the COVID-19 pandemic. We checked the arithmetic accuracy of management’s computation of ECL. We reviewed the debtor 

ageing analysis and checked to subsequent receipts from major debtors. We obtained documentary evidence, representation 

and explanations from management to assess the recoverability of long outstanding debts, where applicable. In addition, we 

reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures relating to impairment of trade receivables and credit risk in Note 5 and Note 22 to the 

consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, 

but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 

authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 

accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 

corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 

of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yee Woon Yim.

Ernst & Young LLP

Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

12 March 2021
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STATEMENTS OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2020

Group Company

Note 2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 3,190 8,323 1,373 3,481

Trade and other receivables 5 7,020 8,756 23,183 33,599

Inventories 232 353 35 30

Loan to associated company 6 4,372 5,537 − −

Prepayments 152 178 41 39

Assets held for sale 10 1,322 − − −
Total current assets 16,288 23,147 24,632 37,149

Non-current assets

Other receivables 5 – – 525 6,902

Subsidiary companies 7 – – 9,168 8,751

Associated companies 8 – – – –

Fixed assets 9 60,848 76,272 29,749 37,425
Total non-current assets 60,848 76,272 39,442 53,078
Total assets 77,136 99,419 64,074 90,227

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 5,895 10,216 40,158 46,132

Borrowings 12 6,929 6,468 6,929 6,468

Income tax payable 452 129 349 111
Total current liabilities 13,276 16,813 47,436 52,711

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 12 3,701 2,263 3,701 2,263

Deferred tax liabilities 13 3,340 4,097 2,321 2,900
Total non-current liabilities 7,041 6,360 6,022 5,163

Capital and reserves

Issued capital 14 55,379 55,379 55,379 55,379

Treasury shares 15 (46) (46) (46) (46)

Accumulated profits/(losses) 1,481 20,795 (44,717) (22,980)
56,814 76,128 10,616 32,353

Non-controlling interests 5 118 − −
Total equity 56,819 76,246 10,616 32,353
Total liabilities and equity 77,136 99,419 64,074 90,227

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Group

Note 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 16 18,918 20,956

Cost of sales (14,345) (13,488)

Gross profit before direct depreciation 4,573 7,468

Others – direct depreciation (6,265) (7,151)

Gross (loss)/profit (1,692) 317

Other income 17 430 343

Other expenses 19 (14,116) (1,843)

Administrative expenses (4,000) (8,593)

Finance cost (400) (469)

Loss before income tax and results of associated companies (19,778) (10,245)

Share of results of associated companies – (3,651)

Loss before income tax (19,778) (13,896)

Income tax credit/(expense) 18 351 (166)

Loss for the year representing total comprehensive income for the year 19 (19,427) (14,062)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (19,314) (14,166)

Non-controlling interests (113) 104

Total comprehensive income for the year (19,427) (14,062)

Loss per share:

Basic and fully diluted (US cents) 20 (2.74) (2.01)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Issued

capital

Treasury

shares

Accumulated

profits/(losses) Total

Non-

controlling

Interest

Total

equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

Balance at 1 January 2019 55,379 (46) 34,961 90,294 14 90,308

Loss for the year, representing  

total comprehensive income  

for the year − − (14,166) (14,166) 104 (14,062)

Balance at 31 December 2019 55,379 (46) 20,795 76,128 118 76,246

Loss for the year, representing  

total comprehensive income  

for the year − − (19,314) (19,314) (113) (19,427)

Balance at 31 December 2020 55,379 (46) 1,481 56,814 5 56,819

Issued

capital

Treasury

shares

Accumulated

profits/(losses)

Total

equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company

Balance at 1 January 2019 55,379 (46) (5,205) 50,128

Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive income  

for the year − − (17,775) (17,775)

Balance at 31 December 2019 55,379 (46) (22,980) 32,353

Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive income  

for the year − − (21,737) (21,737)

Balance at 31 December 2020 55,379 (46) (44,717) 10,616

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note 2020 2019
US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities
Loss before tax (19,778) (13,896)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 9 6,286 7,164
Impairment loss on vessels 9 8,500 −
Loss on disposal of vessels 19(b) 1,884 310
Interest income (76) (338)
Interest expense 400 469
Share of results of associates − 3,651
Net foreign exchange loss – unrealised 201 166
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables 19(b)  2,252 1,510
Write-back of allowance for expected credit losses (307) (155)
Allowance for expected credit losses on loan to associated company 19(b) 1,165 −

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 527 (1,119)
Increase in trade and other receivables A (210) (4,490)
Decrease in prepayments 26 6
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 121 (52)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables B (4,115) 6,235

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (3,651) 580
 Interest paid B (448) (459)
 Interest received A 23 318
 Income tax paid (82) (9)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (4,158) 430

Investing activities
 Purchases of fixed assets (4,173) (402)
 Repayment by an associated company − 1,258
 Proceeds from disposal of vessels 1,605 1,890
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (2,568) 2,746

Financing activities
 Proceeds from bank loan  2,549 −
 Repayment of bank loans (864) (553)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,685 (553)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,041) 2,623
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 8,323 5,700
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (92) −
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3,190 8,323

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows:

Note A:
During the year, total interest income earned from third parties and associated company amounted to US$53,000 (2019: 
US$338,000). An amount of US$366,000 (2019: US$274,000) remains unpaid at the end of the reporting period and is presented in 
“Trade and other receivables”. 

Note B:
During the year, total interest charged by the bank amounted to US$400,000 (2019: US$469,000). An amount of US$80,000 (2019: 
US$128,000) of interest due to the bank remains unpaid at the end of the reporting period and is presented in “Trade and other 
payables”.

CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



70

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CH Offshore Ltd.

1.	 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company (Registration No. 197600666D) is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and is 

incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore with its principal place of business and registered office at 12A, 

Jalan Samulun, Singapore 629131. The financial statements are expressed in United States Dollars.

The immediate holding company is BT Investment Pte. Ltd. and the ultimate holding company is Baker Technology Limited. 

Both companies are incorporated in Singapore.

The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and the owning and chartering of vessels. The 

principal activities of the subsidiaries and associated companies are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements 

respectively.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 

Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)). 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below. 

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (USD or US$) and all values in the tables are rounded to the 

nearest thousand ($’000), except when otherwise indicated.

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. 

An asset is current when it is:

	 •	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

	 •	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading

	 •	 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period 

		  Or

	 •	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

A liability is current when:

	 •	 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

	 •	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

	 •	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period 

		  Or

	 •	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity 

instruments do not affect its classification.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current financial 

year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2020. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the 

Group and the Company. 

2.3 	 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

Amendment to SFRS(I) 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 January 2021

Amendments to SFRS(I) 9, SFRS(I) 1-39, SFRS(I) 7, SFRS(I) 4, SFRS(I) 16:  

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 1 January 2021

Amendments to SFRS(I) 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-37: Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s 2018-2020 1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial statements in 

the year of initial application. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

	 (a)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as 

at 31 December 2020. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

		  • 	 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the investee)

		  • 	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

		  • 	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption 

and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

		  • 	 The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee

		  • 	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

		  • 	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 

the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. In circumstances where there are arrangements between the parent and the non-

controlling interests that affect the attribution of losses to the non-controlling interests, the deficit balance will not 

be recognised. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash 

flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-

controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 

the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 

the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include an 

input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired 

process is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired 

include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it 

significantly contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot 

be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 

conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 

acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted 

for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within 

the scope of SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss in accordance with SFRS(I) 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope 

of SFRS(I) 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 

transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 

reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 

transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 

the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 

relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.5	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the 

Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the 

non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity 

and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6	 Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Each 

entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 

measured using that functional currency.

The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified 

to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method.

	 (a)	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 

subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 

those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of 

the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

	 (b)	 Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into USD at the rate of 

exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange rates 

prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in 

other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 

relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.

The gain or loss arising from translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 

recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose 

fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.7	 Subsidiaries

	

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, 

to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the investee.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less any impairment 

losses. 

2.8	 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 

the financial and operating policy decision of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

	

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine 

control over subsidiaries. The Group’s investment in its associates is accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment 

is adjusted to recognised changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill 

relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any changes in OCI of 

those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, where there has been a change recognised directly in 

the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in 

equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate venture are eliminated 

to the extend of the interest in the associate. 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or 

loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the 

associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, 

adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on 

its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the 

investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within 

‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair 

value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of 

the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and 

equipment other than freehold land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. 

Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, 
in which case the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the asset revaluation reserve. 

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The revaluation surplus included in the asset revaluation 
reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal of the asset.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

	 Vessels	 –	 12 years to 25 years
	 Drydocking expenditure	 –	 5 years
	 Furniture, fittings and equipment	 –	 3 years to 5 years

Assets under construction included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use. 

Subsequent additions to the vessel are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the vessel’s remaining 

useful lives at the date on which such costs are incurred.

Drydocking expenditure refers to major inspections and overhauls which are required at regular intervals of 5 years over the 

useful life of the vessels to allow the continued use of the vessels. When a major inspection and overhaul is performed, any 

remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous inspection is derecognised. Drydocking expenditure is recognised in 

the carrying amount of the vessels as a replacement if the following recognition criteria are met:

•	 it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the entity; and

•	 the cost of the asset to the entity can be measured reliably.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis as described in Note 3 of the financial statements.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the difference between the 

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.10	 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 

the right to use the underlying assets.

(i)	 Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 

asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 

the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 

over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment as set out in Note 2.11 of the financial statements. 

	 (ii)	 Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 

fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 

amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price 

of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the 

lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are 

incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 

the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 

a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a 

change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to 

purchase the underlying asset.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.10	 Leases (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

	 (iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment 
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment 
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is 
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term 
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.11	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and its value-in-use and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 
publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was 
taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up 
to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 

instrument of another entity.

	 (a) 	 Financial assets

		  Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

OCI, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 

do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the 

Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 

profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 

which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to 

give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. 

This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash 

flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business 

model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 

generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual 

cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are 

held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 

while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the 

objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, (i.e., the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset.).
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

	 (a) 	 Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

		  • 	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

		  • 	 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

		  • 	 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments)

		  • 	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 

or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses 

or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial 

assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, 

the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 

designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under SFRS(I) 1-32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 

income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group 

benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are 

recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

	 (a) 	 Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with 

net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably 

elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as other income 

in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the 

host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related 

to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of 

a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there 

is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be 

required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

		  • 	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired

		  Or

		  • 	 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 

the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 

and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group 

has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 

control of the asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough 

arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 

control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 

involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 

liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 

original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required 

to repay.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 

of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

• 	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

• 	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

		  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 

term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated 

as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by SFRS (I) 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also 

classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial 

date of recognition, and only if the criteria in SFRS (I) 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial 

liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

		  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 

through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 

are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

	 (c)	 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.13	 Cash and cash equivalents
	

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.14	 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest 
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, 
the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit 
rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when 
the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 365 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.15	 Inventories

Inventories, comprising bunker stocks on board of vessels for consumption purposes, are stated at lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

2.16	 Borrowing costs

	

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity 

incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.17	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 

the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 

required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 

discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting 

is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.18	 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 

instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as income in the profit or 

loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the amount initially recognised less 

amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to the profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.19	 Employee benefits

	 (a)	 Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has 

operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund 

scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension 

schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed. 

	 (b)	 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the employees. The 

undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting 

period is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

2.20	 Other income

	 (a)	 Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable.

	 (b)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

2.21	 Revenue 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 

promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the 

customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a 

point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

	 (a)	 Charter hire

The Group’s charter contracts consist of time charters and bare boat charters. In the case of time charter, revenue 

is separated into a lease component and a service component. 

The lease component represents the lease of the vessel and is accounted for using the lease standard. Revenue 

from the chartering of vessels is recognised on a straight-line basis over the charter period. 

The service component includes the provision of crew and other services under the time charter contracts. The 

Group separates the components by allocating the transaction price based on their relative stand-alone selling 

prices. Revenue from the provision of other ancillary services including crew and other marine ancillary services are 

recognised over time on a straight-line basis over the charter period.

	 (b)	 Management fee and agency fee

Management fee earned from rendering of services are recognised over the service period. Revenue from agency 

contracts are recognised at a point in time upon completion of the underlying transaction of which the agency fee 

is earned.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.22	 Taxes 

	 (a)	 Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 

be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 

those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group 

operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 

outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject 

to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

	 (b)	 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

		  –	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

		  –	 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits 

and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except: 

		  –	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

		  –	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 

the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.22	 Taxes (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 

tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the 

extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

at the end of each reporting period. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 

items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities 

which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 

liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 

expected to be settled or recovered.

	 (c)	 Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

		  –	 When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 

expense item as applicable; and

		  –	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 

or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.23	 Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 

conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic 

basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates 

to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts and 

released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of the benefits of 

the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.24	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable 

to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 

2.25	 Treasury shares

The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from 

equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 

instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the consideration received, if reissued, 

is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are 

allocated to them respectively.

2.26	 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

	 (a)	 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

	 (b)	 a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

		  (i)	 It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation; or 

		  (ii)	 The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

2.27	 Assets held for sale

	

Non-current assets and disposal group classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell. An asset is classified as held for sale if it’s carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 

the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the 

sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 

Upon classification as held for sale, the asset is not depreciated and is measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent 

liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 

that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that there were no significant judgements made in applying the accounting policies in the 

consolidated financial statements.

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when 

the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 

however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are 

reflected in the assumption when they occur.

	 (a)	 Impairment of vessels

The carrying amounts of the Group’s vessels are reviewed at the end of the reporting period to determine whether 

there is any indication that those vessels have suffered an impairment loss. In determining the impairment loss to be 

recorded for the Group’s vessels, management has computed the value-in-use and considered the respective cash 

generating units (“CGU”) of the Group in deriving the recoverable amount of the Group’s vessels. 

CGU is defined by management through the division of the Group’s fleet of vessels by engine specification (i.e. 

Brake Horse Power (“Bhp”)).

In current year, management computed the value-in-use by estimating the future cash flows expected to be 

generated by the vessels based on the pre-tax discount rate of 9.50% per annum (2019: 9.50% per annum) which 

reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Group.

Based on the above internal and external sources of information, management has carried out a review of the 

recoverable amount of the Group’s vessels and recognised an impairment loss of US$8,500,000 (2019: US$nil) as 

the carrying amount of the Group’s vessels is in excess of their recoverable amount.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s vessels at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Note 

9 of the financial statements.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Useful lives and residual value of vessels

The cost of vessels is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful lives. The Group 

reviews the estimated useful lives and residual value of its vessels at the start of each reporting period. In determining 

the residual values and useful lives of vessels, management considers factors such as market prices of used vessels, 

expected usage levels, maintenance and repair cost, technical or commercial obsolescence. Changes in these 

factors could potentially impact the economic useful lives and residual value of these assets, and thereby resulting 

in changes in future depreciation charges. Such changes are accounted for prospectively.

The carrying amount of the Group’s vessels are disclosed in Note 9 of the financial statements.

	 (c)	 Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit loss (ECL) for trade receivables. The provision rates 

are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate 

the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, 

historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 

and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 

economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also 

not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s 

trade receivables is disclosed in Note 5 of the financial statements.

The carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 is US$5,112,000 (2019: US$7,993,000).
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

	 (d)	 Allowance for expected credit losses on amounts due from subsidiary companies and loan to associated company

When measuring ECL, the Group assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, 

adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in. Loss given default is an 

estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and 

those that the Group expects to recover. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability 

of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes 

assumptions and expectations of future conditions.	  

The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 5 of the financial statements.

	 (e)	 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the interests in 

subsidiaries are impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Company considers 

factors such as the industry performance, technology changes, operating and financing cash flows. Management 

will also consider the financial condition and business prospects of the interest.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based 

on the forecasted performance of the subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries 

at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 7.

4.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash on hand 6 13 − −

Cash at bank 3,184 6,285 1,373 1,456

Fixed deposits − 2,025 − 2,025

3,190 8,323 1,373 3,481

	 The fixed deposits bear interest at rates ranging from 1.1% to 2.9% per annum in 2019.
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5.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade and other receivables (current):

Trade receivables 4,760 7,688 297 1,308

Amounts due from related parties (trade) − 78 − −

Amounts due from related companies (trade) 167 − − −

Amounts due from related companies (non-trade) 2 − − −

Amounts due from associated companies (trade) 185 227 − −

Amounts due from associated company (non-trade) 530 314 − 1

Amounts due from subsidiary company (trade) – − 1,349 910

Amounts due from subsidiary companies (non-trade) − − 21,233 31,357

Other receivables 1,376 449 304 23

7,020 8,756 23,183 33,599

Other receivables (non-current):

Amounts due from subsidiary companies (non-trade) − − 525 6,902

Total trade and other receivables 7,020 8,756 23,708 40,501

Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 3,190 8,323 1,373 3,481

Add: Loan to associated company (Note 6) 4,372 5,537 − −

Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 14,582 22,616 25,081 43,982

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original 

invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2020, included in other receivables are advances of US$897,000 (2019: US$75,000) paid to vessel 

management agents of the Group.

Amounts due from associated companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for those disclosed 

in Note 6 of the financial statements.

Amounts due from subsidiary companies

At the Company level, amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand 

except for an amount of US$525,000 (2019: US$7,812,000) which bears interest at 8.04% (2019: 8.04%) per annum and is 

repayable over a period of 5 years (2019: 6 years).

During the year, the Company waived off amounts of US$10,593,000 (2019: $10,211,000) due from subsidiaries companies.
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5.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Amounts due from related parties

Related parties refer to the Company’s substantial shareholder, Falcon Energy Group Limited and its related companies.

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for an amount of 

US$4,100,000 (2019: US$4,100,000) which bears interest at 4.30% (2019: 4.30%) per annum due from Falcon Energy Group 

Limited. In view of uncertainties in collectability, the Group did not recognise this interest income in the financial years 

ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has made cumulative allowances for doubtful debts for the other receivables due from 

Falcon Energy Group Limited and its related companies amounting to US$8,557,000 (2019: US$8,557,000) out of gross 

amounts amounting to US$8,557,000 (2019: US$8,557,000).

Expected credit loss of trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. The basis of 

determination of loss allowance are disclosed in Note 22(a) of the financial statements.

Group

Gross 

amount

Loss

allowance

Carrying

amount

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2020

Current 1,772 – 1,772

< 3 months past due 2,657 (128) 2,529

3 to 6 months past due 1,130 (673) 457

6 to 12 months past due 1,225 (1,223) 2

>12 months past due 5,122 (5,122) –

11,906 (7,146) 4,760

2019

Current 1,953 – 1,953

< 3 months past due 4,664 – 4,664

3 to 6 months past due 617 – 617

6 to 12 months past due 454 – 454

>12 months past due 5,201 (5,201) –

12,889 (5,201) 7,688
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5.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the allowance for 

expected credit losses are as follows:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables – nominal amounts 11,906 12,889

Amount due from related parties (trade) – nominal amounts 1,672 1,750

Amount due from related parties (non-trade) – nominal amounts 6,885 6,885

Amount due from related companies (trade) – nominal amounts 167 −

Amount due from related companies (non-trade) – nominal amounts 2 −

Amount due from associated company (trade) – nominal amounts 185 227

Amount due from associated company (non-trade) – nominal amounts 530 314

Other receivables 1,376 449

22,723 22,514

Less: allowances for expected credit losses on:

Trade receivables (7,146) (5,201)

Amount due from related parties (trade) (1,672) (1,672)

Amount due from related parties (non-trade) (6,885) (6,885)

(15,703) (13,758)

Carrying amount of trade and other receivables 7,020 8,756

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 January 13,758 12,403

Charge for the year 2,252 1,510

Write-back (307) (155)

At 31 December 15,703 13,758

Trade and other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to 

debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by 

any collateral or credit enhancements.
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6.	 LOAN TO ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Loan to associated company 5,537 5,537

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (1,165) –

4,372 5,537

Movement in allowance account:

At 1 January – –

Charge for the year 1,165 –

At 31 December 1,165 –

The loan to associated company is unsecured and bears interest of 4.26% (2019: 4.26%) per annum.

7.	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 8,751 8,751

Amounts due from subsidiaries* 3,710 –

Less: Allowance for impairment (3,293) –

9,168 8,751

		  * 	 Settlement of the amounts due from subsidiaries is at the discretion of the subsidiaries. Consequentially, these amounts form part of the 
Company’s net investment in the subsidiaries.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are disclosed in Note 

24 of the financial statements.
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7.	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Countries of 

incorporation 

and operations

Proportion of ownership

interest and voting 

power held Principal activities

2020 2019

% %

Held by the Company

CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd. (a) Singapore 100 100 Ship management and 

investment holding

Delaware Marine Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Investment holding

Sea Glory Private Limited (a) Singapore 100 100 Ship owning and chartering

Garo Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100 Ship owning and chartering

Offshore Gold Singapore Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Ship owning and chartering

Pembrooke Marine Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Ship owning and chartering

Venture Offshore Pte. Ltd. (a) Singapore 100 100 Ship owning and chartering

Held by CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd.

High Majestic Sdn Bhd (b) Malaysia 49 100 Ship owning and chartering

Held by Delaware Marine Pte Ltd

Pearl Marine Pte Ltd (b) Malaysia 70 70 Ship owning and chartering

		  Notes

		  (a)	 Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore. 

		  (b)	 Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries.

On 31 December 2020, High Majestic Sdn Bhd (“High Majestic”) issued 104 new shares at RM1.00 per share to three third 

parties diluting the Group’s effective ownership interest in High Majestic from 100% to 49%. The Group continues to have 

control over High Majestic due to the power to control the financial and operating policies of High Majestic by virtue of it 

having majority Directors on High Majestic’s Board to influence decision making.
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8.	 ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Name

Countries of 

incorporation Principal activities

Proportion of ownership

interest 

2020 2019

% %

Held by the Company

MarineCo Limited (a) Malaysia Dormant 49 49

Gemini Sprint Sdn Bhd (a) Malaysia Dormant 49 49

Held by Venture Offshore Pte. Ltd.

PT Bahtera Nusantara Indonesia (b) Indonesia Ship owning and chartering 49 49

		  Notes

		  (a)	 Audited by other CPA firms in Malaysia.

		  (b)	 Audited by other CPA firm in Indonesia.

In accordance with the requirements of Rules 715 and 716 of the SGX–ST Listing Manual, the directors of the company and 

the Audit Committee, having reviewed the appointment of different auditors for the Group’s associates, are satisfied that 

these appointments would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

The accumulated losses of an associated company in excess of the Group’s interest in that associated company which is not 

included in these financial statements using equity method of accounting amounted to US$1,165,000 (2019: US$619,000).

Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in associated companies that are not individually material are as 

follows:

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Profit after tax, representing total comprehensive income – 27
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8.	 ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (CONT’D)

The summarised financial information in respect of PT Bahtera Nusantara Indonesia, based on its IFRS financial statements 

and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

	 Summarised balance sheet

PT Bahtera Nusantara

Indonesia

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Current assets 1,005 1,290

Non-current assets 9,743 10,044

Total assets 10,748 11,334

Current liabilities 13,125 1,297

Non-current liabilities – 11,300

Total liabilities 13,125 12,597

Net liabilities (2,377) (1,263)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the investment − −

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

PT Bahtera Nusantara

Indonesia

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 1,499 2,109

Operating expenses (2,428) (4,005)

Interest expense (109) (341)

Other expenses (76) (6,477)

Loss before tax (1,114) (8,714)
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9.	 FIXED ASSETS

Vessels
Drydocking
expenditure

Furniture,
 fittings and 
equipment Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

Cost:

Balance at 1 January 2019 179,489 18,277 276 198,042

Additions – 390 12 402

Disposals (16,181) (3,067) – (19,248)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 163,308 15,600 288 179,196

Additions 320 3,821 32 4,173

Disposals (17,491) (5,479) (23) (22,993)

Transfer to assets held for sale (906) (656) − (1,562)

Balance at 31 December 2020 145,231 13,286 297 158,814

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at 1 January 2019 62,571 14,589 238 77,398

Depreciation 5,136 2,015 13 7,164

Disposals (5,291) (2,947) – (8,238)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 62,416 13,657 251 76,324

Depreciation 4,984 1,281 21 6,286

Disposals (7,447) (5,445) (23) (12,915)

Transfer to assets held for sale (23) (217) – (240)

Balance at 31 December 2020 59,930 9,276 249 69,455

Accumulated impairment:

Balance at 1 January 2019 35,410 – – 35,410

Disposals (8,810) – – (8,810)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 26,600 − − 26,600

Additions 8,500 − − 8,500

Disposals (6,589) − − (6,589)

Balance at 31 December 2020 28,511 − − 28,511

Carrying amount:

Balance at 31 December 2020 56,790 4,010 48 60,848

Balance at 31 December 2019 74,292 1,943 37 76,272
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9.	 FIXED ASSETS (CONT’D)

Vessels
Drydocking
expenditure

Furniture,
 fittings and 
equipment Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company

Cost:

Balance at 1 January 2019 76,290 7,281 51 83,622

Additions – – 9 9

Disposals (9,681) (3,067) – (12,748)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 66,609 4,214 60 70,883

Additions – – 8 8

Disposals – – (1) (1)

Balance at 31 December 2020 66,609 4,214 67 70,890

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at 1 January 2019 29,081 5,930 16 35,027

Depreciation 2,614 484 10 3,108

Disposals (4,165) (2,947) – (7,112)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 27,530 3,467 26 31,023

Depreciation 2,580 193 11 2,784

Disposals – – (1) (1)

Balance at 31 December 2020 30,110 3,660 36 33,806

Accumulated impairment:

Balance at 1 January 2019 6,852 – – 6,852

Disposals (4,417) – – (4,417)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 2,435 – – 2,435

Additions 4,900 – – 4,900

Balance at 31 December 2020 7,335 – – 7,335

Carrying amount:

Balance at 31 December 2020 29,164 554 31 29,749

Balance at 31 December 2019 36,644 747 34 37,425

A vessel with carrying value of $12,235,000 (2019: $11,372,000) is pledged to the bank as security for two of the Company’s 

bank loans.
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10.	 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2020, the Group entered into agreements with an external party for the sale of two of its vessels. The sales 

were subsequently completed in February 2021. As a result, the carrying value of these vessels and the related dry-docking 

expenditure were classified as assets held for sale as of 31 December 2020 due to the following reasons:

•	 The two vessels are available for immediate sale and can be sold to the buyer in its current condition

•	 The actions to complete the sale were initiated and completed subsequent to year end

•	 A potential buyer has been identified and negotiations have been completed

•	 The Board has approved the plan to sell these vessels.

11.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables 2,139 2,023 409 351

Trade accruals 2,407 6,822 929 5,706

Amounts due to related companies (trade) 177 441 26 406

Amounts due to related companies (non-trade) 570 137 – –

Amounts due to associated companies (non-trade) 585 776 – –

Amounts due to subsidiary companies (trade) – – – –

Amounts due to subsidiary companies (non-trade) – – 38,794 39,669

Other payables 17 17 – –

Total trade and other payables 5,895 10,216 40,158 46,132

Add: Borrowings (Note 12)  10,630 8,731 10,630 8,731

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 16,525 18,947  50,788 54,863

The credit terms granted by suppliers ranged from 30 to 90 days (2019: 30 to 90 days). The Group has financial risk 

management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame.

As at 31 December 2019, trade accruals included a provision of US$5,000,000 made in relation to the arbitration made 

against the Group by three ship brokers (claimants). In August 2020, the Group agreed to a full and final settlement of all 

claims brought by the claimants for US$5,250,000. The amount has been paid during the year.
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12.	 BORROWINGS

Group and Company

Maturity 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Current:

Bank loan A 2021 5,675 5,577

Bank loan B 2021 956 891

Bank loan C 2021 298 –

6,929 6,468

Non-current:

Bank loan B 2022-2023 1,351 2,263

Bank loan C 2022-2025 2,350 –

3,701 2,263

Total borrowings 10,630 8,731

	 Bank loan A:

The bank loan is a secured revolving credit facility which bears effective interest rate of 4.13% (2019: 5.03%) per annum and 

is denominated in Singapore dollars.

	 Bank loan B:

The bank loan is secured with a tenure of 72 months, bears interest of 5.50% (2019: 5.50%) per annum and is denominated 

in Singapore dollars. This loan is provided by a bank for an initiative under Enterprise Singapore (previously known as 

SPRING Singapore), an agency under the Ministry of Trade and Industry of Singapore, for working capital assistance for 

companies in the offshore industry. 

Based on the terms of the loan arrangements, the repayment of the principal amount of the loan will commence 24 

months from the inception of the loan.

	 Bank loan C:

	

The bank loan is unsecured with a tenure of 60 months, bears interest at 3.00% per annum and is denominated in Singapore 

dollars. This is a Temporary Bridging Loan under Enterprise Financing Scheme for working capital assistance. For the first 

12 months, the Group shall only service the interest on the loan.	
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12.	 BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 

changes as follows:

	

1 January 

2020

Financing 

cash flows

Foreign 

exchange 

movement

31 December 

2020

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

Borrowings 8,731 1,685 214 10,630

1 January 

2019

Financing 

cash flows

Foreign 

exchange 

movement

31 December

 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

Borrowings 9,176 (553) 108 8,731

13.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group and Company, and the movements 

thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods:

Accelerated tax 

depreciation

Unutilised 

capital 

allowance Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

At 1 January 2019 (4,735) 670 (4,065)

Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for the year (Note 18) 443 (475) (32)

At 31 December 2019 (4,292) 195 (4,097)

Credit to profit or loss for the year (Note 18) 749 8 757

At 31 December 2020 (3,543) 203 (3,340)

Company

At 1 January 2019 (3,211) 304 (2,907)

Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for the year 311 (304) 7

At 31 December 2019 (2,900) − (2,900)

Credit to profit or loss for the year 579 − 579

At 31 December 2020 (2,321) − (2,321)
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13.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s and Company’s accounting 

policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for statement of financial position purposes:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Deferred tax assets 203 195 − −

Deferred tax liabilities (3,543) (4,292) (2,321) (2,900)

(3,340) (4,097) (2,321) (2,900)

In deriving at the Group and Company’s deferred tax exposure, management has considered the flag type of each vessel 

and the future periods of which these vessels will continue to derive income not exempted under Section 13A in the 

computation of the Group and Company’s taxable temporary difference.

14.	 ISSUED CAPITAL

Group and Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

‘000 ‘000 US$’000 US$’000

Number of ordinary  

shares

Issued and paid-up capital:

At the beginning and end of the year 705,091 705,091 55,379 55,379

Fully paid ordinary shares are denominated in Singapore Dollar which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry 

a right to dividends as and when declared by the Company.

15.	 TREASURY SHARES

Group and Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

‘000 ‘000 US$’000 US$’000

Number of ordinary  

shares

At the beginning and end of the year 198 198 46 46

The Group and Company acquired 198,000 of its own shares through purchases on Singapore Exchange. The total amount 

paid to acquire the shares was US$46,000 and has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. These shares are held as 

“treasury shares”. The Group and Company intend to reissue these shares to executives who are granted share options 

under the employee share option plan in the foreseeable future. 
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16.	 REVENUE

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Charter hire revenue 9,689 10,690

Other ancillary charter hire revenue 8,370 9,570

Management and agency fee 859 696

18,918 20,956

The Group accounts for the lease of vessels for bareboat charter and time charter under SFRS(I) 16 Leases as leases revenue. 

Time charter comprises lease of vessels and provision of other ancillary services. Other ancillary services include provision 

of crew and other services under time charter contracts. The Group separates the lease and non-lease components of time 

charter by allocating the transaction price based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. Other ancillary time charter 

revenue is recognised over time.

17.	 OTHER INCOME

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income from outside parties 23 64

Interest income from an associated company (Note 25) 53 274

Grant income 317 –

Others 37 5

430 343

18.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

	 (a)	 Income tax credit/(expense) comprises:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Income tax

   – Current (393) (134)

   – Under provision in respect of prior years (13) –

Deferred tax (Note 13)

   – Origination and reversal of temporary differences 757 (32)

351 (166)
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18.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (CONT’D)

	 (b)	 A reconciliation between income tax and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable corporate tax 

rate for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Loss before income tax (19,778) (13,896)

Income tax benefit at statutory tax rate at 17% (3,362) (2,362)

Effects of different tax rates of companies operating in different jurisdictions 286 83

Net loss not subject to tax (1) 855 633

Income not subject to tax (53) –

Effects of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profits 1,787 1,294

Tax effect of share of results of associates	 – 621

Utilisation of tax benefits previously not recognised (85) (99)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 235 _

Under provision in respect of prior years 13 –

Effect of partial exemption and tax relief (20) (12)

Others (7) 8

Income tax (credit)/expense (351) 166

		  (1)	 This represents mainly losses on income exempted under Section 13A and tax exemption under Section 43(6) of Singapore Income Tax 
Act.

	 (c)	 Unrecognised tax losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of approximately US$3,377,000 (2019: US$2,496,000) 

that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the relevant subsidiaries in which the losses arose, for 

which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to the uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is 

subject to the agreement of the tax authority and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation.

A loss-transfer system of group relief (the “Group Relief System”) for companies was introduced in Singapore with 

effect from year of assessment 2003. Under the Group Relief System, a company belonging to a group of entities 

may transfer its current year’s unabsorbed capital allowances, unabsorbed trade losses and unabsorbed donations 

(loss items) to another company belonging to the same group, to be deducted against the latter’s assessable income.
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19.	 LOSS FOR THE YEAR

	 (a)	 In addition to charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, this item includes the following charges:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Directors’ fees 221 181

Staff cost:

Permanent staff (including directors’ remuneration) 2,387 2,303

Contract based crew 3,879 3,566

6,487 6,050

Cost of defined contribution plans included in staff costs 212 190

Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 1,352 949

Expenses relating to short-term leases 111 105

Audit fees:

To auditors of the Company 76 57

Other expenses include:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Net foreign exchange loss 581 171

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Note 5) 2,252 1,510

Impairment loss on vessels (Note 9) 8,500 –

Loss on disposal of vessels 1,884 310

Allowance for expected credit losses on loan to associated company (Note 6) 1,165 –
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20.	 LOSS PER SHARE

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial years as follows:

Group

2020 2019

Loss attributable to shareholders (US$’000) (19,314) (14,166)

Number of ordinary shares used to compute loss per share (‘000) 704,893 704,893

Basic and fully diluted:

   Loss per share (US cents) (2.74) (2.01)

The Group’s basic loss per share is the same as the fully diluted loss per share as the Group did not have any potential 

dilutive ordinary shares outstanding as at end of the reporting period.

21.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The operations of the Group are associated specifically with the support of offshore oil and gas industry which is the major 

operating segment of the group. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the 

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

As the main focus is on the generation of revenue for the group, the CEO makes decision to charter the vessels based 

on the charter rates, timing and availability of the vessels. Hence, vessels are deployed worldwide and wherever clients 

required them subject to safety factors, for example, war zones or areas prone to piracy. As a result, it is not meaningful to 

present the revenue by countries or geographical locations.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue of US$18,918,000 (2019:US$20,956,000) are revenues of approximately US$6,478,000 (2019: 

US$7,465,000) which arose from the chartering of vessels to the Group’s largest customer.

The Group has three (2019: two) major customers that individually contribute greater than 10% of the total revenue for 

charter income.

Revenue

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Customer A 6,478 7,465

Customer B 5,003 3,476

Customer C* 2,564 1,724

		  (*)	 Revenue contribution in 2019 below 10% but presented for comparative purposes.
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22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial 

performance of the Group. Management has in place processes and procedures to monitor the Group’s risk exposures 

whilst balancing the costs associated with such monitoring and management against the costs of risk occurrence. Such 

processes and procedures are reviewed periodically for changes in market conditions and the Group’s operations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures 

these risks.

	 (a)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 

to the Group. The Group has adopted a pro-active approach in the extension of credit terms to trade customers, 

monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis and transacts exclusively with creditworthy counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables and loan to associated 

company. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, represents the Group’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value of any collateral obtained.

Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. The provision 

rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates analysed in accordance to days past 

due. Information regarding loss allowance movement of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 5 of the financial 

statements.

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly affect 

groups of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total credit 

exposure.

The Group’s credit exposure is concentrated mainly in the Africa, Mexico, South East Asia, Russia and Middle East 

and is centralised on oil majors. It adopts a pro-active approach in its credit evaluation process, credit policies 

and credit control as well as collection procedures to manage the risk arising from the concentration of its credit 

exposure.

There is significant concentration of credit risk arising from two customers (2019: three customers) which represents 

79% (2019: 74%) of total gross trade receivables of the Group as at the end of the reporting period.

Management regularly reviews collectability and aging of the outstanding receivables and records specific allowance 

for debtors who are in severe financial difficulty, of which there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

	



110

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CH Offshore Ltd.

22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES ICONT’D)

	 (a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. The provision 

rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates analysed in accordance to days past 

due. Information regarding loss allowance movement of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 5.

Other receivables, amounts due from related parties, related companies and associated company

The Group assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for the future 

outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant 

increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. Accordingly, the Group measured the 

impairment loss allowance using 12-month expected credit losses and determined that the expected credit losses 

is insignificant.

	 (b)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 

to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches 

of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and Company’s objective is to maintain a balance 

between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low. Access 

to sources of funding is sufficiently available and debt maturing within 12 months can be rolled over with existing 

lenders.

During the financial year, the Group reported negative operating cash flows of approximately US$4,158,000, primarily 

due to the full and final settlement of all claims brought by three ship brokers against the Group for US$5,250,000 

(Note 11). Based on management’s cash flow forecast for the next twelve months, the Group will maintain sufficient 

cash and cash equivalents via internally generated cash flows and the availability of its revolving credit facility to 

finance its activities and pay its debts as and when they fall due. Accordingly, management has assessed that the 

Group will have sufficient financial resources to enable it to continue as a going concern for at least the next twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period.
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22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 (b)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets used for managing 

liquidity risk and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment 

obligations.

2020

US$’000

One year 

or less

One to five

 years Total

Group

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 7,020 – 7,020

Cash and cash equivalents 3,190 – 3,190

Loan to associated company 4,372 – 4,372

Total undiscounted financial assets 14,582 – 14,582

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 5,895 – 5,895

Borrowings 7,313 3,948 11,261

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 13,208 3,948 17,156

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities) 1,374 (3,948) (2,574)

2019

US$’000

One year 

or less

One to five

 years Total

Group

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 8,756 – 8,756

Cash and cash equivalents 8,323 – 8,323

Loan to associated company 5,753 – 5,753

Total undiscounted financial assets 22,832 – 22,832

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 10,216 – 10,216

Borrowings 6,896 2,411 9,307

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 17,112 2,411 19,523

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities) 5,720 (2,411) 3,309
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22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 (b)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

2020

US$’000

One year 

or less

One to five

 years

More than 

five years Total

Company

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 23,183 525 – 23,708

Cash and cash equivalents 1,373 – – 1,373

Total undiscounted financial assets 24,556 525 – 25,081

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 40,158 – – 40,158

Borrowings 7,313 3,948 – 11,261

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 47,471 3,948 – 51,419

Total net undiscounted financial liabilities (22,915) (3,423) – (26,338)

2019

US$’000

One year 

or less

One to five

 years

More than 

five years Total

Company

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 34,200 6,044 2,644 42,888

Cash and cash equivalents 3,481 – – 3,481

Total undiscounted financial assets 37,681 6,044 2,644 46,369

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 46,132 – – 46,132

Borrowings 6,896 2,411 – 9,307

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 53,028 2,411 – 55,439

Total net undiscounted financial (liabilities)/assets (15,347) 3,633 2,644 (9,070)
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22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 (c)	 Foreign currency risk 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 

than United States Dollars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Singapore Dollar and Malaysia Ringgit.

Carrying amounts of significant foreign currencies denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end 

of the reporting period are as follows:

Group

US$’000

Liabilities Assets

2020 2019 2020 2019

Singapore Dollar 11,028 9,091 269 643

Malaysia Ringgit 118 79 2,694 6,361

Company

US$’000

Liabilities Assets

2020 2019 2020 2019

Singapore Dollar 10,646 8,740 192 217

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currencies exchange 

rate against the functional currency of each group entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 

currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible 

change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 

monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates.

If the foreign currencies strengthen by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, loss before income 

tax will (increase)/decrease by:

Group 

US$’000

2020 2019

Singapore Dollar (1,076) (845)

Malaysia Ringgit 258 628

Company 

US$’000

2020 2019

Singapore Dollar (1,045) (852)

If the foreign currencies weaken by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, loss before income 

tax will be impacted by an equal but opposite amount as per table above.
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22.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 (d)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 

instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to 

the interest rate risk arises primarily from their borrowings. The Group’s and Company’s floating rate borrowings are 

contractually re-priced at intervals of 6 months (2019: 6 months) from the end of the reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, if SGD interest rates had been 50 (2019: 50) basis points lower/higher with all 

other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would have been US$28,000 (2019: US$28,000) lower/

higher, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

23.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes bank borrowings, and equity attributable to owners of 

the Company, comprising issued capital and accumulated profits.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

24.	 TRANSACTIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES

Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are with other members of the Group and the effect of these 

on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances are 

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Some transactions with subsidiaries, other than those disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements are as 

follows:

Company

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income from a subsidiary company 595 664

Agency fees paid to a subsidiary company 146 328
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25.	 OTHER RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Related parties in these financial statements refer to members of Falcon Energy Group Limited’s (FEG) group of companies. 

Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the ultimate holding company and its other subsidiaries. 

Some of the Group’s and Company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the 

basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 

and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Some related parties transactions, other than those disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the statements of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income are as follows:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Management and agency fee earned from associated companies 113 131 – –

Interest income from an associated company 53 274 – –

Transactions with FEG group of companies:

– Charter of vessels – 423 – –

Transactions with related companies

– Rental paid 104 124 26 21

– Fees paid for services rendered to its vessels 174 335 – 88

– Charter of vessels – 115 – 75

– Management and agency fee earned 233 9 – –
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25.	 OTHER RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

	 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

	 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group

2020 2019

US$’000 US$’000

Short-term benefits 932 1,103

Comprise amounts paid/payable to:

– Directors of the Company 518 558

– Other key management personnel 414 545

932 1,103

26.	 FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable 

approximation of fair value

Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan to associated company, trade and other payables, borrowings

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to 

their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the 

reporting date.

27.	 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity 

of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 March 

2021.
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STATISTICS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 8 March 2021

SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and Fully paid-up capital (including Treasury Shares) : S$95,251,165.43
Issued and Fully paid-up capital (excluding Treasury Shares) : S$95,188,106.23
Total Number of Issued & Paid Up Shares (including Treasury Shares) : 705,090,514
Total Number of Issued & Paid Up Shares (excluding Treasury Shares) 704,892,514
Total Number/ Percentage of Treasury Shares : 198,000 (0.0281%)
Class of Shares : Ordinary shares
Voting Rights : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings

No. of

Shareholders %

No. of

Shares %

1 – 99 16 0.54 318 0.00
100 – 1,000 696 23.68 535,748 0.08
1,001 – 10,000 1,485 50.53 7,348,862 1.04
10,001 – 1,000,000 734 24.98 38,077,069 5.40
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 8 0.27 658,930,517 93.48
TOTAL 2,939 100.00 704,892,514 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

As shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 BT INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. 387,535,300 54.98
2 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 194,676,175 27.62
3 ENERGIAN PTE LTD 45,379,956 6.44
4 LIM YOK LAN 23,171,866 3.29
5 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 3,967,500 0.56
6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 1,509,751 0.21
7 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 1,477,399 0.21
8 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 1,212,570 0.17
9 KOH CHIN HIN 957,600 0.14
10 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 762,300 0.11
11 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 752,500 0.11
12 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 752,300 0.11
13 CHIA CHEE HUA 681,800 0.10
14 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 546,850 0.08
15 NG HWEE KOON 542,900 0.08
16 DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 510,000 0.07
17 TAN KIAN CHUAN (CHEN JIANZHUAN) 500,000 0.07
18 GAN GUAT CHING 480,000 0.07
19 LEE SAM KONG 400,000 0.06
20 LIEN SHEONG CHYE 400,000 0.06

TOTAL 666,216,767 94.54
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Substantial Shareholders of the Company (as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders) as at 8 March 2021:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

BT Investment Pte. Ltd. 	 387,535,300 	(a) 54.98 – –

Baker Technology Limited – – 	 387,535,300 	(a) 54.98

Dr Benety Chang – – 	 387,535,300 	(a) 54.98

Dr Doris Heng Chin Ngor – – 	 387,535,300 	(a) 54.98

Energian Pte. Ltd. 	 45,379,956 	(b) 6.44 	 194,380,175 	(b) 27.57

Falcon Energy Group Limited – – 	 239,760,131 	(b) 34.01

Tan Pong Tyea – – 	 239,760,131 	(b) 34.01

Notes:

(a) 	 Baker Technology Limited, Dr Benety Chang and Dr Doris Heng Chin Ngor are each deemed pursuant to Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act to 
have an interest in the 387,535,300 shares of the Company held by BT Investment Pte. Ltd.

(b) 	 Falcon Energy Group Limited and Mr Tan Pong Tyea are each deemed pursuant to Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act to have an interest in the 
239,760,131 shares of the Company held by Energian Pte. Ltd., (of which 194,380,175 shares are pledged to CIMB Bank Berhad, Singapore Branch and 
held through CGS-CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.)

Free Float

Based on the information available to the Company as at 8 March 2021 and to the best knowledge of the Directors and the 

substantial shareholders of the Company, approximately 11.01% of the issued ordinary shares (excluding Treasury Shares and 

Subsidiary Holdings) of the Company was held by the public.  Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing 

Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Fifth Annual General Meeting (the “AGM” or the “Meeting”) of CH Offshore Ltd. (the 

“Company”) will be held by way of electronic means on Friday, 23 April 2021 at 4.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2020 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2 To approve Directors’ fees of up to S$264,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2021, to be 

paid quarterly in arrears. (FY2020 : S$304,000)

(Resolution 2)

3 To re-elect Dr Benety Chang, being a Director who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 89 of the 

Constitution of the Company.

(Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Ms Jeanette Chang, being a Director who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 89 of the 

Constitution of the Company.

(Resolution 4)

5 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise Directors to 

fix their remuneration. 

(Resolution 5)

6 To transact any other business that may be transacted at an AGM.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:

7 “Share Issue Mandate

That pursuant to the Company’s Constitution and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited, authority be given to the Directors of the Company to issue 

shares (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and/or make or grant offers, 

agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued, 

including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures 

or other instruments convertible into Shares at any time and upon such terms and conditions and to 

such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that:

(a) 	 the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments 

made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) 

of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the 

capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate 

number of Shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to all 

shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the total number of 

issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the share capital of the 

Company;

(Resolution 6)
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	 (b) 	 for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under 

sub-paragraph (a) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and 

subsidiary holdings) shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 

shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, 

after adjusting for:

	 (i) 	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

	 (ii) 	 new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of Share awards, provided 

the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8; and

	 (iii) 	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

Adjustment in accordance with (b)(i) and (b)(ii) are only to be made in respect of new shares 

arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and 

outstanding or subsisting at the time of passing of this Resolution.

(c) 	 And that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, 

continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the Company’s next AGM or the date by which the 

next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case 

of shares to be issued in accordance with the terms of convertible securities issued, made or 

granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the 

terms of such convertible securities.” 

8 “CH Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme

That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in 

accordance with the provisions of the CH Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”) 

and pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, to allot and issue from time to time 

such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to 

the exercise of the options under the Scheme provided always that the aggregate number of shares 

to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total number of 

shares of the Company from time to time.” 

(Resolution 7)
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9 “Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate

That: 

	

(a)	 approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the 

SGX-ST (“Chapter 9”), for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are 

considered to be “entities at risk” under Chapter 9, or any of them, to enter into the Mandated 

Transactions with the Mandated Interested Persons, provided that such transactions are: 

	 (i)	 made on commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company 

and its minority Shareholders; and 

	 (ii)	 in accordance with the review procedures for such Mandated Transactions (the “IPT 

General Mandate”); 

(b)	 the IPT General Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, 

continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which 

the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier;

(c)	 the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it 

deems proper in respect of the review procedures and/or modify or implement such review 

procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration any amendment to Chapter 9, 

which may be prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to time; and 

the Directors of the Company who are not interested in the Mandated Transactions and each of them 

be and are hereby authorised to do all acts and things as they or each of them may deem desirable, 

necessary or expedient to give effect to the IPT General Mandate as they or each of them may in their 

or each of their absolute discretion deem fit in the interests of the Company.”

(Resolution 8)

10 “Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

That for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act (Chapter 50), the Directors 

of the Company be and are hereby authorised to make purchases or otherwise acquire issued and 

fully paid-up ordinary shares from time to time (whether by way of market purchases or off-market 

purchases on an equal access scheme) of up to 10% of the total number of issued ordinary shares 

(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as ascertained as 

at the date of the AGM of the Company) at the price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price 

as defined in the Appendix dated 1 April 2021 (the “Appendix”), in accordance with the terms of the 

Share Buyback Mandate set out in the Appendix, and this mandate shall, unless revoked or varied 

by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until (i) the date of the next AGM of the 

Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law or the Constitution 

of the Company to be held; (ii) the date on which the share purchases are carried out to the full 

extent mandated; or (iii) the time when the authority conferred by this mandate is revoked or varied 

by Shareholders in general meeting, whichever is the earliest.” 

(Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Lim Mee Fun

Company Secretary

Singapore

1 April 2021
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EXPLANATORY NOTES:

Resolution 2 The Ordinary Resolution 2, if passed, will authorise the Directors of the Company to pay Directors’ fees to 

Independent Directors and Non-Executive Non-Independent Directors nominated by Shareholders for the 

year ending 31 December 2021 quarterly in arrears.

Resolution 3 Detailed Information pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST on Dr Benety Chang can be 

found in the section titled “Directors Standing for Re-Election at the AGM” of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 4 Detailed Information pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST on Ms Jeanette Chang can be 

found in the section titled “Directors Standing for Re-Election at the AGM” of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 6 On 16 March 2021, SGX RegCo issued a news release on the extension of availability of the Enhanced Share 

Issue Limit where Mainboard issuers are allowed to provisionally seek a general mandate for an issue of 

pro-rata shares and convertible securities of up to 100% of its share capital (excluding treasury shares and 

subsidiary holdings in each class) versus 50% previously.

The Company is proposing to seek shareholders’ approval for a general mandate with an Enhanced Share 

Issue Limit at the upcoming AGM. The Board of Directors is of the view that it would be in the interest 

of the Company and its shareholders to do so amid the challenging business and economic climate due 

to COVID-19 situation in the event that a 50% limit for pro rata issues is no longer sufficient to meet the 

Company’s needs. If no Enhanced Share Issue Limit were to be in place, fund raising efforts would otherwise 

be unnecessarily hampered and compromised by the time needed to obtain shareholders’ approval to issue 

shares above the 50% threshold.

The Enhanced Share Issue Limit will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM, or on the date by which next 

AGM is required by law or the SGX-ST Listing Manual to be held, whichever is the earliest.

The limit on the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro rata basis 

remains at not more than 20%.

Resolution 7 The Ordinary Resolution 7, is to authorise the Directors to offer and grant options in accordance with the 

provisions of the Scheme and pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to allot and issue 

shares under the Scheme up to an amount not exceeding fifteen per cent (15%) of the total number of 

shares of the Company from time to time.

Resolution 8 The Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will renew the IPT General Mandate and will authorise the Company, 

its subsidiaries and associated companies to enter into the Mandated Transactions with the Mandated 

Interested Persons on the terms and subject to the conditions of the resolution. Details of the IPT General 

Mandate are set out in greater detail in the Appendix enclosed together with the Annual Report. 
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Resolution 9 The Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this 

AGM until (i) the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of the 

Company is required by law or the Constitution of the Company to be held; (ii) the date on which the share 

purchases are carried out to the full extent mandated; or (iii) the time when the authority conferred by this 

mandate is revoked or varied by Shareholders in general meeting, whichever is the earliest, to repurchase 

ordinary shares of the Company by way of market purchases or off-market purchases of up to 10% of the 

total number of issued oderdinary shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of 

the Company at the Maximum Price as defined in the Appendix. 

The rationale for the authority and limits on the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition of 

shares, including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of ordinary 

shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate on the audited financial statements of the 

Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, are set out in greater detail in the Appendix. 

NOTES RELATING TO MEASURES TO MINIMISE THE RISK OF COVID-19: 

1. 	 The AGM is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 

(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and 

Debenture Holders) Order 2020 as part of the Company’s efforts to minimise physical interactions and COVID-19 

transmission risk. Due to the constantly evolving COVID-19 situation in Singapore, the Company may be required to 

change its AGM arrangements at short notice. Shareholders should check the Company’s announcements on SGXNet 

for the latest updates on the status of the AGM, if any.

2. 	 The Annual Report, Appendix dated 1 April 2021 (in relation to the proposed renewal of the share buyback mandate 

and interested persons mandate), Notice of AGM and Proxy Form have been published on the SGX website at the URL  

https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. These documents can also be accessed at the Company’s 

website at http://choffshore.listedcompany.com/newsroom.html. 

Printed copies of these documents will be despatched to the shareholders on 1 April 2021.

3. 	 Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by which the 

Meeting can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream), submission of questions to 

the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of the AGM, addressing of substantial and relevant questions (as may be determined 

by the Company in its sole discretion) prior to or at the AGM and voting by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy 

at the AGM, are set out in the accompanying Company’s announcement dated 1 April 2021. This announcement may be 

accessed at the Company’s website at the URL http://choffshore.listedcompany.com/newsroom.html, and will also be 

made available on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. 

4. 	 Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member (including Relevant Intermediary*) will not be able to 

attend the AGM in person. A member (whether individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as 

his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM if such member wishes to exercise his/her/

its voting rights at the AGM. The accompanying proxy form for the AGM may be accessed at the Company’s website at the 

URL http://choffshore.listedcompany.com/newsroom.html, and will also be made available on the SGX website at the URL 

https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. 

Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it 

must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing 

which the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid. CPF or SRS 

investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or 

SRS Operators to submit their votes by 5.00 pm on 13 April 2021.
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5. 	 The Chairman of the Meeting, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company.

6. 	 The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the following 

manner:

	 (a) 	 if submitted by post, be lodged at the office of the Company at 12A Jalan Samulun Singapore 629131; or

	 (b) 	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company at AGM2021@choffshore.com.sg 

	 in either case not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

* “RELEVANT INTERMEDIARY” MEANS:

(a) 	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Chapter 19) of Singapore or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a 

banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b) 	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and 

Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or 

(c)	  the Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF Board”) established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Chapter 36) of Singapore, in 

respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments 

from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the CPF Board holds 

those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any 

adjournment thereof, a member of the Company consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by 

the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis by the Company 

(or its agents or service providers) of the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for the AGM (including any 

adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the 

AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any 

applicable laws, listing rules, take-over rules, regulations and/or guidelines.

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION AT THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DECLARATION REQUIRED BY RULE 720(6) OF THE LISTING MANUAL OF THE SGX-ST

Name DR BENETY CHANG

Job Title Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer

Nominating Committee Member

Date of Appointment 27 August 2018

Date of last Re-Election 21 September 2018

Age 73

Country of principal residence Singapore

The Board’s comments on this re-election 

(including rationale, selection criteria, 

and the search and nomination process)

The Board of Directors of the Company has accepted the Nominating Committee’s 

recommendation on Dr Benety Chang’s re-election after taking into consideration 

of Dr Benety Chang’s contribution and performance as Executive Director of the 

Company.

Whether the appointment is executive, 

and if so, the area of responsibility

Executive

Professional qualifications Dr Chang holds a MBBS degree from the University of Singapore.

Shareholding interest in the Company 

and its subsidiaries

Deemed interest : 387,535,300 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

Any relationship (including immediate 

family relationships) with any existing 

director, existing executive officer, the 

Company and/or substantial shareholder 

of the Company or of any of its principal 

subsidiaries

Father of Ms Jeanette Chang (Non-Executive Non-Independent Director of the 

Company) & spouse of Dr Doris Heng Chin Ngor (Substantial Shareholder 

of the Company)

Conflict of interest (including any 

competing business)

None

Undertaking (in the format set out in 

Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1) has been 

submitted to the Company

Yes
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Working experience and occupation(s) 

during the past 10 years

2018-Current :	 Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director of CH Offshore Ltd.

2019-Current :	 Executive Director, Baker Technology Limited

2000-2018 : 	 Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director, Baker Technology 

Limited

1998-2012 : 	 Chief Executive Officer, PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

Other Principal Commitments including 

Directorships – Past (for the last 5 years)

Past Directorship:

Chytron Company Limited

Past Principal Commitments:

Nil

Other Principal Commitments including 

Directorships – Present

Present Directorship:

Baker Technology Limited

Baker Engineering Pte. Ltd.

BT Investment Pte. Ltd.

BEL Design Pte. Ltd.

Sea Deep Shipyard Pte. Ltd.

Sea Hercules Cranes Pte. Ltd.

CH Offshore Ltd.

CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd.

Delaware Marine Pte Ltd

Garo Pte. Ltd.

Offshore Gold Shipping Pte Ltd

Pembrooke Marine Pte Ltd 

Sea Glory Private Limited

Venture Offshore Pte. Ltd.

IPEC Pte Ltd

Present Principal Commitments:

Nil

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any 

jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was 

a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

No

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction 

was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a 

key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or 

at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive 

of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business 

trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

No

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him? No

DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION AT THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty 

which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 

pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

No

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any 

law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or 

has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he 

is aware) for such breach?

No

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil proceedings 

in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities 

or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his 

part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which 

he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

No

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the 

formation or management of any entity or business trust?

No

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity 

(including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any 

entity or business trust?

No

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental 

body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

No

(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in Singapore or 

elsewhere, of the affairs of:–

No

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 

governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

 

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach for any law or regulatory 

requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 

governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 

requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere.

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has 

been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory 

authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No
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DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION AT THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DECLARATION REQUIRED BY RULE 720(6) OF THE LISTING MANUAL OF THE SGX-ST

Name JEANETTE CHANG

Job Title Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

Audit Committee Member

Remuneration Committee Member

Date of Appointment 27 August 2018

Date of last Re-Election 21 September 2018

Age 44

Country of principal residence Singapore

The Board’s comments on this re-election 

(including rationale, selection criteria, 

and the search and nomination process)

The Board of Directors of the Company has accepted the Nominating Committee’s 

recommendation on Ms Jeanette Chang’s re-election after taking into consideration 

of Ms Jeanette Chang’s contribution and performance as Non-Executive  

Non-Independent Director of the Company.

Whether the appointment is executive, 

and if so, the area of responsibility

Non-Executive

Professional qualifications Ms Jeanette Chang holds a Master in Engineering First Class (Civil Engineering) 

degree from Imperial College London and a Master of Business Administration with 

Distinction from London Business School.

Shareholding interest in the Company 

and its subsidiaries

Nil

Any relationship (including immediate 

family relationships) with any existing 

director, existing executive officer, the 

Company and/or substantial shareholder 

of the Company or of any of its principal 

subsidiaries

Daughter of Dr Benety Chang (Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director and 

Substantial Shareholder of the Company) & Dr Doris Heng Chin Ngor (Substantial 

Shareholder of the Company)

Conflict of interest (including any 

competing business)

None

Undertaking (in the format set out in 

Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1) has 

been submitted to the Company

Yes
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Working experience and occupation(s) 

during the past 10 years

2019-Current :	 Chief Executive Officer, Baker Technology Limited

2013-Current :	 Executive Director, Baker Technology Limited

2018-Current :	 Non-Executive Non-Independent Director of CH Offshore Ltd.

2007-2013 : 	 Director, Equity Capital Markets, Barclays Bank PLC, Singapore

Other Principal Commitments including 

Directorships – Past (for the last 5 years)

Past Directorship:

Nil

Past Principal Commitments:

Nil

Other Principal Commitments including 

Directorships – Present

Present Directorship:

Baker Technology Limited

Baker Engineering Pte. Ltd.

BT Investment Pte. Ltd.

Sea Hercules Cranes Pte. Ltd.

Sea Deep Shipyard Pte. Ltd.

BT Offshore (B) Sdn Bhd

BT Offshore (Malaysia) Pte Ltd

BT OSV 1 Pte Ltd

BT Titanium Pte Ltd

BT Offshore Management Pte. Ltd. 

Interseas Pte. Ltd 

CHO Ship Management Pte. Ltd.

Delaware Marine Pte Ltd

Garo Pte. Ltd.

Offshore Gold Shipping Pte Ltd

Pembrooke Marine Pte Ltd 

Sea Glory Private Limited

Venture Offshore Pte. Ltd. 

High Majestic Sdn Bhd

PT Bahtera Nusantara Indonesia (President Commissioner)

Present Principal Commitments:

Chief Executive Officer, Baker Technology Limited

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any 

jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was 

a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

No

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction 

was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a 

key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or 

at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive 

of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business 

trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

No

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him? No
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(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty 

which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any 

pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

No

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any 

law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or 

has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he 

is aware) for such breach?

No

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil proceedings 

in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities 

or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his 

part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which 

he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

No

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the 

formation or management of any entity or business trust?

No

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity 

(including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any 

entity or business trust?

No

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental 

body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

No

(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in Singapore or 

elsewhere, of the affairs of:–

No

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 

governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach for any law or regulatory 

requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 

governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 

requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere.

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has 

been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory 

authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No

DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION AT THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



FORTY-FIFTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:

1. 	 The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM” or the “Meeting”) is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 as part of the Company’s 
efforts to minimise physical interactions and COVID-19 transmission risk. Due to the constantly evolving COVID-19 situation in Singapore, the Company may be required 
to change its AGM arrangements at short notice. Shareholders should check the Company’s announcements on SGXNet for the latest updates on the status of the AGM, 
if any. 

2. 	 Printed copies of Annual Report, Appendix dated 1 April 2021 (in relation to the proposed renewal of the share buyback mandate and interested persons mandate), Notice 
of AGM and Proxy Form will be despatched to the shareholders on 1 April 2021. These documents have been published at SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/
securities/company-announcements and can be accessed at the Company’s website at http://choffshore.listedcompany.com/newsroom.html. 

3. 	 Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by which the Meeting can be electronically accessed via live 
audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream), submission of questions to the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of the AGM, addressing of substantial and relevant 
questions (as may be determined by the Company in its sole discretion) prior to or at the AGM and voting by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy at the AGM, are 
set out in the accompanying Company’s announcement dated 1 April 2021. This announcement may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL http://choffshore.
listedcompany.com/newsroom.html, and will also be made available on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

4. 	 Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member (including Relevant Intermediary) will not be able to attend the AGM in person. A member (whether individual 
or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM if such member wishes to exercise 
his/her/its voting rights at the AGM.

5. 	 Please read the notes overleaf which contain instructions on, inter alia, the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as a member’s proxy to attend, speak and vote on 
his/her/its behalf at the AGM.

6. 	 CPF or SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes 
by 5:00 p.m. on 13 April 2021.

7. 	 By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of 
AGM dated 1 April 2021. 

*I/We,  (Name),  (NRIC/Passport/Registration No.) 

of  (Address),

being a *member/members of CH Offshore Ltd. (the “Company”) hereby appoint the Chairman of the Forty-Fifth AGM of the Company, 

as *my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the AGM to be held by way of electronic means on Friday, 23 April 2021 at 

4.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

* 	 Delete where inapplicable
# 	 Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy to cast all your votes “for” or “against” a resolution, please indicate with 

an “X” in the “For” or “Against” box provided in respect of that resolution. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes “for” or “against” in the “For” or “Against” 
box in respect of that resolution. If you wish the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy to abstain from voting on a resolution, please indicate with an “X” in the 
“Abstain” box provided in respect of that resolution. Alternatively, please indicate the number of shares that the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy is directed 
to abstain from voting in the “Abstain” box in respect of that resolution. In the absence of specific directions in respect of a resolution, the appointment of the 
Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

No. Resolutions relating to: For# Against# Abstain#

ORDINARY BUSINESS 	

1. Adoption of Audited Financial Statements and Directors Statement for the year 

ended 31 December 2020.

2. Approval of Directors’ Fees for the year ending 31 December 2021.

3. Re-election of Dr Benety Chang as Director.

4. Re-election of Ms Jeanette Chang as Director.

5. Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditors.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

6. Authority to allot and issue new shares and/or convertible securities

7. Approval of authority to offer and grant options and to issue shares pursuant to the 

CH Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme 

8. Renewal of IPT General Mandate
9. Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

Dated this  day of  2021

Signature of Member(s) or

Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder(s)

Total number of Ordinary Shares Held

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

CH OFFSHORE LTD.
(Unique Entity Number 197600666D)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)



NOTES TO PROXY FORM:

1. 	 If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), he should insert that number 
of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members (maintained by or on behalf of the Company), he should insert that number 
of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should 
insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

2. 	 Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore and the Company’s efforts to minimise physical interactions and COVID-19 transmission risk, a member 
will not be able to attend the AGM in person. A member (whether individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to 
attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM if such member wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM. This proxy form may be accessed 
at the Company’s website at the URL http://choffshore.listedcompany.com/newsroom.html, and will also be made available on the SGX website at the URL https://
www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. Printed copies of the proxy form will also be sent to members on 1 April 2021.

	 Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must give specific instructions as to voting 
or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution 
will be treated as invalid. 

	 CPF or SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit 
their votes by 5:00 p.m. on 13 April 2021.

3. 	 The Chairman of the Meeting, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company.

4. 	 The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:
	 (a) 	 if submitted by post, be lodged at the office of the Company at 12A Jalan Samulun Singapore 629131; or 
	 (b) 	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company at investors@choffshore.com.sg

	 in either case not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

5. 	 The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where 
the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an 
officer  or attorney duly authorised. Where an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the 
letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company), if the instrument appointing the Chairman of the 
Meeting as proxy is submitted by post, be lodged with the instrument of proxy or, if the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is submitted 
electronically via email, be emailed with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

6. 	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing the Chairman of the 
Meeting as proxy (including any related attachment). In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument 
appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy lodged or submitted if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name 
in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice 
of AGM dated 1 April 2021.





CH OFFSHORE LTD. 
Unique Entity Number 197600666D
12A Jalan Samulun 
Singapore 629131 
Tel: (65) 6410 9018
Fax: (65) 6862 2336
Website: www.choff shore.com.sg
Email: investors@choff shore.com.sg
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